

East Tennessee State University Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Student Works

12-2021

Social and Academic Experiences of Black, First-Generation, College Graduates While Attending Predominantly White Institutions

James Edward Stukes East Tennessee State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://dc.etsu.edu/etd

Part of the Higher Education Commons

Recommended Citation

Stukes, James Edward, "Social and Academic Experiences of Black, First-Generation, College Graduates While Attending Predominantly White Institutions" (2021). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. Paper 3986. https://dc.etsu.edu/etd/3986

This Dissertation - unrestricted is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Works at Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University. For more information, please contact digilib@etsu.edu.

Social and Academic Experiences of Black, First-Generation, College Graduates While

Attending Predominantly White Institutions

A dissertation

presented to

the faculty of the Department of Educational Leadership and Policy Analysis

East Tennessee State University

In partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Education in Educational Leadership,

concentration in Higher Education Leadership

by

James Stukes

December 2021

Dr. James Lampley, Chair

Dr. Don Good

Dr. Keith Johnson

Keywords: first-generation, pell grant, code-switching

ABSTRACT

Social and Academic Experiences of Black, First-Generation, College Graduates While Attending Predominantly White Institutions

by

James Edward Stukes

First-generation college students represent a significant percentage of all college students and comprise various sub-identities and unique backgrounds. Compared to continuing generation college students, many first-generation students arrive on college campuses without complete understanding of how to navigate college life. Factors, such as family support, finding a sense of belonging, and the availability of resources and campus support, play key roles in the overall success of first-generation college students. The current study sought understanding of these aspects of college life and their relationship to the success of Black, first-generation, graduates of predominantly White institutions.

The purpose of this qualitative, phenomenological study was to document the undergraduate experiences of Black, first-generation college graduates who attended predominantly White institutions. Recorded Zoom video interview sessions of 11 participants supplied the study data. Each interview lasted between 60 to 75 minutes. The data revealed that the participants persisted and graduated despite having minimal financial support, navigating psychological barriers, such as feeling the need to assimilate, and facing macro-aggressions regarding race. Scholarship money was the most common deciding factor when choosing their alma maters. Factors such as support from Black faculty and staff and personal motivation were key to their persistence and graduation.

Copyright 2021 by James Stukes

All Rights Reserved

DEDICATION

This dissertation is dedicated to my late parents: my father, James Stukes, my mother, Nancy China Green, and my stepfather, David Green. All three have poured into me at some points in my life and their memories will always continue to guide me.

Additionally, I would like a dedication to my wife Trenise and my children, Khimek, Caiden, Sydney, and Gavin, who have exercised patience over the past few years and have supported me through the long nights and early mornings.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

One thing that I always tell my students is that no one does it alone. This is true regarding my educational journey. Leaving my home state of South Carolina to begin my bachelor's degree in East Tennessee was a period filled with uncertainty but optimism. Key individuals at ETSU and in the surrounding community provided me with the support system I needed. Thank you to the staff and faculty of the Office of Disciplinary Studies and School of Continuing Studies at ETSU during the years 2006-2010 for providing me with a firm foundation in understanding the transformative power of a college education. Other key ETSU figures include Ms. Mary Jordan and the late Dr. Marian Whitson.

My professional work over the past 10 years has enabled me to engage with amazing students from Science Hill High School, ETSU, and York Technical College. The Gateway Scholars at Wofford College have greatly added to the purpose to my work and motivation along the stages of my dissertation. Their perseverance, contributions to campus, and academic excellence has been a privilege to witness. Additionally, I would like to thank my direct supervisors and colleagues at Wofford College for their understanding and support during this process.

Last, I want to acknowledge the time and energy of my dissertation committee members: Dr. Keith Johnson, Dr. Don Good, and my dissertation chair, Dr. James Lampley. Your guidance has been monumental in my persistence. Also, thank you Dr. Susan Epps for your feedback and expertise for the betterment of my dissertation.

ABSTRACT2
DEDICATION4
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
Chapter 1. Introduction9
Statement of Problem11
Significance of Study12
Theoretical Framework12
Research Questions13
Definition of Terms14
Limitations and Delimitations14
Statement of Researcher's Perspective16
Overview of Study17
Chapter 2. Review of Literature
First-Generation College Students19
Black First-Generation College Students24
First-Generation College Students' Sense of Belonging25
Black College Students and Ethnic Identity27
Choice Theory and First-Generation College Students
Imposter Syndrome Among First-Generation College Students
Code-Switching Among Black College Students
The Black College Student Experience at Predominately White Institutions
Imposterism Associated with Black College Students

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 3. Research Method40
Research Questions
Participants41
Data Collection42
Data Analysis43
Role of the Researcher44
Ethical Issues44
Chapter 4. Findings
Participant Profiles
Interview Results
Research Question 1
Research Question 2
Research Question 364
Research Question 474
Research Question 580
Chapter 5. Summary, Conclusion, and Recommendations
Research Questions
Motivation and Role of Family87
Institutional Financial Aid88
Dealing with Stereotypes and Racism
Black Faculty and Staff90
Conclusions
Recommendations for Practice91

Recommendations for Further Research	92
References	94
APPENDICES	105
Appendix A: Interview Questions	105
Appendix B: Consent Form	107
VITA	110

Chapter 1. Introduction

Researchers and scholars have studied first-generation college students for decades because, historically, this group has not only been underrepresented but also tends to arrive at college underprepared academically, socially, and financially. The Higher Education Act of 1965 defined first-generation college students as those whose parents or guardians did not complete the requirements for a bachelor's degree (Romanelli, 2020). This definition can be complicated, depending on the various ways and circumstances related to the educational levels of family members (Toutkoushian et al., 2018). Under this definition, parents who attended a community college, whether or not they graduated, likely did not experience such areas of college life as living in a residence hall, choosing a meal plan, or joining a fraternity or sorority.

The number of first-generation college students attending college steadily continues to rise and as of the 2015-16 academic year, 47% of students at public 4-year colleges and 64% of students attending public 2-year colleges were the first in their family to attend college (National Association of Student Personnel Administrators [NAPSA], 2021). This growth sparked conversation on the background of this statistic and increased the need for identifying the type of institutional support needed to enroll, retain, and graduate first-generation college students. It is important for college administrators to realize that, despite their individuality, first-generation college students have a holistic identity and may require help in cultivating and maintaining their success.

Data from the Free Application for Student Aid (FAFSA) determines the expected family educational contribution and thus indicates the classification of a low-income student. When the expected family contribution falls within the lowest percentile, those students qualify for a Pell grant. Low-income students often experience college more negatively than do students coming

from families with higher income (Dias, 2017). A level of marginalization can occur when this student group is afforded less importance, treated as a monolith, excluded from the college community, or portrayed as those with the least resources, therefore needing more assistance. Additionally, low-income students often combat feelings of financial exclusion when access to social events, study abroad, books, initiation fees for clubs and organizations, and the choice to live off-campus have associated costs (Dias, 2017). Thayer (2000) stated that the experiences of first-generation college students varied depending on their income background. First-generation college students from families with middle incomes often have an easier time adjusting and transitioning to college than do first-generation college students from lower-income families in general. Obstacles between college entry and college graduation are typically compounded for first-generation college students who are non-White and from low-income backgrounds (Thayer, 2000.

Socially navigating a college campus is one of the greatest obstacles for all new college students. Language often produces first impressions and may cue interpersonal judgement (Koch et al., 2001). When the group views a student's language that is viewed positively, they may judge the student as one with favorable attributes; on the other hand, they may perceive a student with varied language patterns as one who possesses undesirable traits. This exchange can be common for Black students who attend predominately White institutions because they sometimes struggle with choosing to speak Black English or Standard English. While code-switching, the ability to navigate between two or more linguistic preferences, may be a goal for some Black individuals when conversing with those who are viewed in a positive manner, some believe it creates a burden for Black students (Koch et al., 2001).

Lige et al. (2017) defined imposter syndrome, often referred to as imposter phenomenon, as an individual's perception that he or she is incompetent despite hard work and merit. Anxiety, excessive worry, depression, fear of negative perceptions and evaluation, lowered self-esteem, and poor mental health can be manifestations of this syndrome (Lige et al., 2017). Additionally, for African American undergraduate students, imposter syndrome may associate with survivor guilt. African American students may feel they are perceived as the *other* when navigating the educational environment similar of a predominately White institution. Stressors that contribute to imposter syndrome may include experiences of discrimination and racism, overhearing insensitive comments, the presence of educational hegemony, or questions that prompt African American students to ponder their belongingness at a predominately White institution (Cokley et al., 2013).

Statement of the Problem

Although much information is available on the barriers Black, first-generation college students navigate during their undergraduate experience, there is a gap in research relating to the way in which those experiences impact first-generation college students after they earn their bachelor's degree, enter graduate school, or begin their professional careers. Thus, the purpose of this qualitative, phenomenological study was to explore the perceptions of first-generation college students, their experiences with code-switching and imposter syndrome, and its impact on their lives. This study is significance because it may offer a better understanding of the social behaviors and identities associated with the experience of some Black, first-generation, college students.

The intent of the study was to document the experiences of Black, first-generation college students with code-switching and imposter syndrome while they attended a predominately White

institution (PWI) and to explore the way that these two phenomena impacted their lives while attending a PWI. This study may contribute to the literature on Black, first-generation college students who attend PWIs and offer a better understanding of their motivations to pursue a college degree, their perceptions and interactions as students, and the impact of these variables on retention and graduation.

Significance of Study

For decades, educators have discussed first-generation college students with much of that discussion focused on academics. Typically, first-generation college students are less likely to attend and to graduate from college when compared to others with at least one degreed parent, commonly referred to as continuing-generation students (Stebleton & Soria, 2012). However, there has been relatively little mention of the social and psychological experiences, often referred to as code-switching and imposter syndrome, faced by non-White college students.

Peteet et al. (2015) indicated that minority students at predominately White institutions expressed having to prove themselves by working harder in the same classes and on the same assignments as their White counterparts. Consequently, the notion of imposter syndrome becomes more of a reality and these individuals often attribute their college success to external factors such as luck and happenstance. Eventually, they may develop an unhealthy fear of being discovered as frauds.

Theoretical Framework

The foundation for this research had roots in the sense of belonging model proposed by Strayhorn (2018). According to Strayhorn, a sense of belonging was a perception students realized when they felt a connectedness to the campus and found social supports. Establishing a sense of belonging is especially crucial for students from families with low-income, historically

marginalized groups such as first-generation students, and those from minoritized racial backgrounds. Strayhorn's model also highlighted the need to belong at different phases and that the development of a sense of belonging would produce favorable outcomes for students, including retention, happiness, and campus involvement. On the other hand, failure to develop a sense of belonging could produce negative results that might include mental health issues and enrollment withdrawal.

My study used Strayhorn's Model of Sense of Belonging because it provides a framework heavily correlated to the experiences of first-generation college students, including code-switching and imposter syndrome, which are rooted in the desire to be accepted. The model influenced the research questions and the overall outcomes of the graduates interviewed for this study.

Research Questions

To gather data from Black, first-generation college students who attended and graduated from a predominately White institution, the study addressed the following research questions:

Research Question 1. What are the experiences of Black, first-generation college graduates of PWIs?

Research Question 2. What challenges did Black, first-generation college graduates encounter while attending a PWI?

Research Question 3. What were the participants' perceptions of the ways academic and cultural assimilation affected their lives while enrolled in the institution? *Research Question 4.* How did the graduates feel their behavior, language, and attitudes differed while in college?

Research Question 5. In what ways have their previous experiences at PWIs impacted the current lives of Black, first-generation college graduates?

Definitions of Terms

For the purpose of this research, the following definitions will apply:

- Code-switching: A separate persona African American students create when they are in presence of Whites while revealing their true selves only during interactions with other Blacks (Guiffrida, 2006.
- 2. First-generation college student (FGCS): A college student whose parents or guardians have not earned a bachelor's degree (Garriot et al., 2015).
- Imposter syndrome: "A complex array of feelings characterized by a belief that one is incompetent, and any achievements are in fact undeserved strokes of luck or other external factors" (Sewer, 2015, p. 34).
- Predominantly White Institutions: Colleges and universities where White students comprise the student population more than does any other student racial group (Bourke, 2016).

Limitations and Delimitations

Limitations for this study exist because qualitative data is not often generalizable. It should not be inferred that, because the participants are all Black, first-generation college graduates of PWIs, other individuals from the same identity share the same experiences. Researcher bias as well as that of participants also adds limitations.

This study was delimited to the lived experiences of Black, first-generation college students who graduated from a predominately White institution. The goal was to gain a better understanding of the way that these intersecting identities impacted their college experience and current life. The study participants included Black, first-generation graduates of predominately White institutions due to the limited available research that highlighted their experiences and illustrated the way in which those experiences varied greatly from their White, first-generation college student counterparts who graduated from predominately White institutions. Colleges and universities with historic majority White student populations may offer a cultural environment that differs from the culture of Black people and may produce barriers to these students assimilating to campus life.

Additionally, this study was specifically delimited to the experiences of Black, firstgeneration college graduates of a predominately White institution and their experiences with code-switching and imposter syndrome. For Black students, code-switching can serve as a defense mechanism to fend off negative notions or stereotypes associated with race, such as being uneducated or having less class. Imposter syndrome emerged as one of the outcomes of *othering* or creating a separate identity for the sake of fitting in. The study participants, Black college graduates from predominately White institutions, generally have different experiences compared to their White counterparts that attend identical institutions. First-generation college students often arrive at college with preconceived notions of inferiority and feelings of not belonging but when this mindset is compounded by psychological barriers, such as racial microaggression and discrimination, negative outcomes can be commonplace. At predominantly White institutions, Black students are within the minority population, thus making the search for a sense of belonging and peer groups more challenging.

The study was delimited to only participants who graduated from a predominately White university. By definition, first-generation college students are those whose parents have not earned a bachelor's degree. Therefore, it was important to incorporate participants who

graduated to illustrate a metric of successful academic matriculation but also a successful ability to maneuver social and psychological barriers. While this study focuses on one specific racial and ethnic group, future research on other racial groups who identify as first-generation college graduates of PWIs could be beneficial.

Statement of Researcher's Perspective

At an early age, I excelled academically without the assistance of tutoring, after school programs, or help from my parents. My father was a skilled supervisor for a local carpentry company but dropped out of high school in the 10th grade. I cannot remember a time in my life when he either offered or was able to assist me with homework or studying. My mother was a high school graduate. Notions of attending college were not present within my household. After completing high school, I attended the local technical college, primarily just so that I could tell anyone who asked about my post-high school plans that I was doing something meaningful. My attendance at that time was a waste of time and of Pell grant funds but I gained an opportunity to attend a four-year institution 270 miles away from home. Although I was hesitant and very doubtful that I would be admitted, I mailed my application and materials. To my surprise, I was accepted and decided to leave everything I had ever known behind to attempt to better myself.

Being an adult learner and a first-generation college student presented many challenges during my first semester. Locating my classes, feeling out of place, interpreting syllabi, and grasping my responsibilities as a student were overwhelming. Nonetheless, I earned a 3.0 grade point average my first semester, which affirmed that I could walk this journey. As time passed, I applied for and was hired as a work-study student in an office answering phones. To my dismay, my South Carolina dialect did not transfer well to my new Appalachian environment. People had a difficult time understanding what I was saying and repeating myself constantly became an

annoyance. Therefore, I would go home and practice speaking, which included slowing down, making sure my words were not connecting, and adding the endings to my words. To my surprise, this propelled me socially as a student and worker, but when I returned home to visit family, this practiced dialect was not accepted and I experienced difficulty navigating the two environments. I realized that I had been code-switching, not only through speech but also in my clothing.

Embarking on the academic journey toward obtaining a bachelor's degree at the age of 24 came with some challenges. Attending orientation without fully understanding the purpose of the various university staff members and informational booths was somewhat uncomfortable and seeing students from different cultures for the first time brought on feelings of inadequacy. Nonetheless, I persevered and attended my first college course at the four-year university level in Fall 2005. There I was, a non-traditional, first-generation college student amid continuing-generation college students that made attending college seem simple. Graduating with my bachelor's degree was a milestone that I never thought reachable, but it also provided a sense of empowerment and a hunger for more education. As a doctoral candidate, I often reflect on my academic journey and the more research I conduct, the more it becomes evident that the academic, social, and family issues I faced were due to double consciousness and feelings of imposter syndrome. In summary, this topic and research hold personal attachments to my own academic and professional journey.

Overview of the Study

Chapter 1 introduced the study, the research questions, and the significance of the study. Chapter 2 contains a review of the literature that provides context to the research. A description of the participants, methodology, and research design will be in Chapter 3. Chapter 4 will contain

the findings from the interviews and the results from that data. Conclusions about the findings and recommendations will be in Chapter 5.

Chapter 2. Review of Literature

While the experiences of first-generation college students may be individually unique, when including additional factors, such as identifying as Black and attending a predominantly White institution, acclimation to the college environment can prove difficult. The literature review provides context for those factors to build a theoretical framework for this study. The framework illustrates the ways in which imposter syndrome and code-switching play a key role in academic and social experiences of Black college graduates during their undergraduate years and the way in which those outcomes can impact their lives post-graduation.

First-Generation College Students

According to Stebleton and Soria (2012), first-generation college students included persons whose parents did not earn a bachelor's degree. Some researchers observed that roughly 43% to 50% of the students currently enrolled in post-secondary education were the first in their family to attend college (Garriot et al., 2015). The journey of first-generation college students may begin during their senior year in high school and comprise students with a background of low-income families, minimal time spent with high school groups, low standardized test scores, academic under-preparation for college, and lower critical thinking abilities (Padgett et al., 2012). In addition, first-generation college students generally have lower GPAs than continuinggeneration students and a lower level of confidence in their ability than their counterparts have (Atherton, 2014). While other classmates prepare to apply for colleges and polish their academic records, first-generation college students often confront anxieties, such as leaving home for the first time, seeking ways to pay tuition, and navigating the college entry with no assistance from family members (Pascarella et al., 2003). According to Stephens et al. (2012), a high percentage of first-generation college students came from working class families having fewer resources than continuing-generation students. Fewer resources meant that enrichment opportunities, such as SAT/ACT test prep, summer camps, and tutors, were potentially not feasible for these students. Fewer resources might also result in the student working to provide for the family; thus, the proposed departure for college could add to financial strain. When many first-generation college students attend college, they often seek one or more jobs to assist with educational expenses (Stephens et al., 2012).

First-generation college students may arrive at college with doubts about their future success as a student. This doubt is often implanted during their formative high school years because others may view them as the *other* or *out-group* socially. In addition, college admission criteria, such as SAT and ACT test scores, indicate achievement and social status because students with financial resources can afford test preparation courses and materials, while first-generation college students often cannot and may consequently produce lower scores (Jury et al., 2015). Therefore, despite a university's attempt to view all students identically, first-generation students tend to evolve as outliers when compared with continuing-generation college students. Jury et al. (2015) also found that, through this context and social identity, first-generation college students could create defensive and protective mechanisms that could play a significant role in their performance, motivation, and overall well-being.

Palbusa and Gauvain (2017) pointed out that the major comparison between firstgeneration college students and continuing-generation college students was that the second group most likely received advice and guidance in preparing for college, while the other group did not. The knowledge passed on by college degree-attaining parents included information on seeking emotional support and general transitions to college. The interaction between continuing-

generation students and their parents provided an enhanced awareness of rules, best practices, and the appropriate navigation of a college campus (Palbusa & Gauvain, 2017). Due to this lack of information and support, first-generation college students were also more likely to earn lower grades during their first semester and more likely to withdraw from college.

According to Pino et al. (2012), first-generation college students comprised nearly onethird of all undergraduates with the majority identifying as Black/African American or Hispanic/Latino. The researchers also noted that one-third of first-generation college students who were 30 or older were more likely to attend a community college or a for-profit institute and to enroll part-time. Further, they indicated that 60% of all first-generation college students would fail to complete a degree program within six years (Pino et al., 2012). The obvious difference between first-generation college students and continuing-generation college students was degreed parents, which assumed that parents of continuing-generation college students had the knowledge to navigate institutional networks, systems, and cultures (Pino et al., 2012). In their research, Dennis et al. (2005) concluded, "Face-to-face interaction with, and support from, family members and peers are among the most common and important proximal processes for adolescents and young adults and play an important role in academic outcomes" (p. 254). They also found that not all contributors to academic success were necessarily spawned from cognitive variables. Family and continuous financial support had huge implications for predicting future academic success among first-generation college students. Furthermore, parents from low socioeconomic backgrounds often communicate the idea of receiving an education as a means of improving employment prospects, which might create motivation for the first-generation students to excel and obtain their college degree. Unfortunately, while family expectations and motivation were essential tools, parents of first-generation college students rarely provided those

attributes for their students, while parents of continuing-generation college students tended to do so (Dennis et al., 2005)

First-generation college students tended to have a lower level of social capital, which referred to the information, standards, norms, and values of education due to a lack of shared experiences from others through interpersonal relationships (Padgett et al., 2010. Furthermore, students with low levels of social capitol likely lacked interpersonal relationships, did not adapt well to the new campus environment, and possessed poor collaboration and networking skills. Similar to social capital, cultural capital referred to attitudes and opportunities afforded to children of middle-class and upper-class families to preserve a certain economic status (Padgett et al., 2010). Essentially, parents reinforced morals and objectives associated with receiving a college education to becoming a successful and financially stable adult. Students with high levels of cultural capital had resources and knowledge, often provided by their parents, to which most first-generation college students do not have access. Therefore, continuing-generation students typically arrived at college with a clear vision of a chosen major and career field(s), insight on campus life, and an overall better understanding of the skills needed to be a successful college student. On the other hand, many first-generation college students arrived at college confused and unaware of the expectations the university had for college students. Unfortunately, they often did not receive that information until the point where academic or financial turbulence struck (Padgett et al., 2012).

Other advantages of strong social capital included insight on jobs and internships, career contacts who possessed hiring power and offered job references, and financial resources (Green, 2015). When compared to other ethnic groups, first-generation African American students appeared to have little access to social capital resources, such as valuable relationships and

mentors (Green, 2015). This disparity directly correlated to socioeconomic status; students from families with low-income often had few working professionals and college graduates to use as a source of valuable information. Additionally, these students were less likely to engage with extracurricular activities and professional organizations that have been proven to increase social capital (Parks-Yancy, 2012).

The transition to college can be a daunting experience for students coming from disadvantaged groups with significantly fewer financial resources, including the ability to pay for their college education. First-generation college students from low-income families are at a higher risk of not completing the Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA), potentially widening gaps in unmet financial need and cost of attendance. Those gaps are often filled with federal student loans, parent plus loans, federal work-study positions, or off-campus employment. In fact, Tabrizi (2020) noted that nearly 20% of college-seeking students whose families earned less than \$50,000 a year failed to complete the FAFSA. While the FAFSA is a valuable tool for any college student, its successful completion can be complicated due to the confusing questions and required tax information.

Achieving college success can be a struggle for any college student but low-income college students present unique challenges. In addition to securing the financial assistance to pay tuition costs, students must also purchase books, course materials, and often a personal computer (Delisle, 2017). These sometimes hidden and unexpected costs can serve as barriers to low-income students. In 1972, the federal government introduced the Pell Grant program that provides portable grants to any student that qualifies for federal aid assistance, enrolled in any accredited higher education institution, and in a degree or certificate program (Deslisle, 2017). To qualify for the grant, students families must complete the Free Application for Federal

Student Aid (FAFSA), which calculates the applicant's expected family contribution to determine the amount of Pell Grant funds, if any, the student may receive annually for a college education (Delisle, 2017). The expected family contribution is the determined amount of money that a student's parents can contribute towards the educational costs per year. Distribution of the funds is on a sliding scale based on the student's calculated expected family contribution. During the 2017-2018 academic year, over 7,000,000 college students received Pell Grants totaling more than \$28,000,000,000 (U.S. Department of Education, 2018).

According to the Education Advisory Board (2019), about 90% of first-generation, lowincome students do not complete the necessary degree requirements within six years. Researchers at the Education Advisory Board (2019) indicated that this statistic was partially due to the students' lack of familiarity with first-year success, including navigating higher education and implementing good study skills. Additionally, lower-income students typically worked parttime jobs averaging 20 hours per week to help finance their education (Education Advisory Board, 2019). According to 2012 data from the U.S. Department of Education (Education Advisory Board, 2019). African American students comprised 41% of all those first-generation college students.

Black First-Generation College Students

A great deal of research exists on first-generation college students, their experiences, and outcomes. Because these students are first in their respective families to attend college, the data contrast drastically with their counterparts, continuing-generation college students. First-generation college students tended to enroll and graduate at rates lower than any other class of college student (Smith, 2015). Demographically, non-White, first-generation college students were likely to be female, either Black or Hispanic, and from low-income families (Engle, 2007).

According to Engle (2007), persistence was also a critical factor when discussing non-White, first-generation college students. Students in this group were more likely to drop out of college than were their continuing-generation college peers, respectively at a rate of 43% to 20%. The dropout rate could indicate a higher likelihood of being academically underprepared, having lower standardized test scores, and grade point averages. Socially, they were more likely to spend most of their time off campus and less likely to interact with faculty or other students (Engle, 2007).

Day (2020) opined that the number of African American college students earning a bachelor's degree had increased considerably but more should be done to close the achievement gap. In 1940, only 1% of African Americans earned a bachelor's degree, while the national average for all adults during that period stood at 5% (Day, 2020). In 2019, the national average for all students was 36%, while 26% of African Americans attained a bachelor's degree. Eakins and Eakins (2017) found that obstacles that hindered success and graduation rates included sense of belonging, lack of preparation due to educational inadequacies in grades K-12, little or no family support, and lack of finances.

First-Generation College Students' Sense of Belonging

While it is important for all students to feel a sense of belonging on a college campus, belongingness is essential for first generation college students. Sense of belonging was characterized as the desire or need to be connected and part of the interactions on campus, whether formal or informal (Stebleton et al., 2014). Sense of belonging was a necessary component of a student's mental well-being, retention, and graduation; thus, it had importance for the college as well (Stebleton et al., 2014). Means and Pyne (2017) concluded students who felt a connection and sense of belonging increased academic excellence and social integration.

These are important attributes to remember when discussing first-generation college students who may have additional barriers and issues to navigate. Strayhorn (2019) concluded that a sense of belonging also included acceptance, respect, and value from the campus community to produce positive student results. Cultivating strong relationships with peers, faculty, and staff was crucial, especially in a college student's first year (Means & Pyne, 2017).

College students, like all individuals, are part of social identity groups, many may face marginalization or oppression that includes racism and classism. When those identities intersect, it can compound negative feelings and stereotypes and impact the sense of belonging in college (Means & Pyne, 2017). While measures exist to increase diversity within college student bodies nationally, the persistent lack can often stifle the sense of belonging (Means & Pyne, 2017).

It is important to consider data about the lack of diversity at predominantly White institutions because those figures suggest that non-White students may have difficulty assimilating, making connections with others that share the same identity group, and encountering negative interactions on campus, including in the classroom (Fischer, 2017). In some instances, African American students frequently face the isolation of being the only person of color in the classroom, having ethnocentric names that may be more difficult to pronounce, and dealing with a different set of factors that impact outcomes, such as family background, academic preparation, and resources (Fischer, 2007). Another external factor that can impact sense of belonging is the preconceived stereotype regarding lower intellectual ability among minority groups that can essentially manifest into an academic fear for those groups. This fear eventually can lead to a self-fulfilling prophecy, which causes low academic performance and increases the sense of alienation among students of color at predominantly White institutions. However, it cannot be assumed that all college students experience and transition through the

same adjustment process as new incoming college students at predominantly White institutions (Fisher, 2007).

To capture a complete snapshot of first-generation college students, the discussion should include continuing relationships with friends and relatives back home after the student arrives on campus. Tinto's integration model (1975) argued for separation from former communities to integrate fully into a new college community (Fisher, 2007). However, later research noted positive relationships between family support and high academic performance among first-generation college students, especially those from minority groups. Furthermore, for African American, first-generation college students, the bulk of support derived from off campus sources because many students frequently experienced forms of discrimination and stereotypes within the on-campus community (Fisher, 2007).

Black College Students and Ethnic Identity

Ethnic identity could mean many different things to individuals because it encompassed characteristics, such as nationality, ancestry, religion, language, and culture (Evans et al., 2010). Black Americans or African Americans could trace their roots and ancestral backgrounds throughout much of history and within many different countries around the world. Given this statement, no single ethnic identity theory encompassed the diaspora of African American ethnic identity research, originally posited by developmental psychologist Erik Erickson (1966) as an offset of his ego identity model. His research indicated that ego identity theory occurred throughout the life span of a person but was more evident during the adolescent and young adulthood years, concurrent with the concluding years of high school and initial undergraduate college period. The goal was for an individual to reach a point of identity achievement through self-exploration and commitment to an individual identity.

identities were likely to succumb to role confusion that could lead to struggles in making and fulfilling lifelong goals (Duffy & Klingaman, 2009).

Ethnic identity is indeed a process, whereby individuals must assume responsibility for exploring their cultural background. Everyone's culture has a set of guidelines and messages that ultimately shapes the structure of that culture. Often, however, African Americans find their values, vernacular, patterns of interaction, and other factors conflict with the mainstream view of the model student (Cokley & Chapman, 2008). As persons begin their college careers, they may question their cultural structures when exposed to peers from other backgrounds and dominant cultures (Duffy & Klingaman, 2009). Those who have achieved ethnic identity can likely navigate their own culture and that of a dominant group; however, the individuals experiencing ethnic identity confusion may ultimately alienate themselves from both their own culture and that of the dominant group. Those with a strong sense of identity exhibit higher levels of self-esteem, more community mindedness, lower levels of depression, a better sense of well-being, and a better fulfillment of academic goals (Duffy & Klingaman, 2009).

African American students often experience microaggressions related to bias and racism when attending predominantly White institutions (Sinanan, 2016). According to Sinanan (2016), DuBois (2005) introduced the concept of *double consciousness* as a coping mechanism for African American students who needed to navigate two identities to succeed at predominantly White institutions. The necessity of such tactics stemmed from historical discrimination, prejudice, stereotypes, and racism. Critical Race Theory developed as a theoretical framework to recognize that systems built on race and its impact intersect when analyzing society and culture. While the acceptance of African Americans into predominantly White institutions is commonplace, this does not suggest that these institutions are race-neutral or without prejudices.

Critical Race Theory challenges such notions by implying that inequities associated with race have predetermined consequences for minorities, such as poorer schools, lower achievement, inadequate financial literacy and economic engagement, and deficiencies in teaching (Sinanan, 2016).

Choice Theory and First-Generation College Students

According to Green (2015), the developer of Choice Theory, William Glasser (1998), suggested that an individual's behavior, including those related to academic studies, corelated to internal motivation. The basis for this motivation included several human needs, such as that include power, autonomy, belonging, survival, and enjoyment of learning. Furthermore, Green's Choice Theory proposed that, when those needs were not satisfied in the classroom, the chances for academic success decreased (Green, 2015). On the other hand, when the varying areas were fulfilled, students tended to be more interested and contented in their work, leading to higher levels of academic success. In short, Choice Theory related to an individual's level of motivation in completing the necessary actions to pursue and to achieve their goals. For first-generation college students, this motivation could be merely earning a degree. However, that goal could be compounded with the motivation to earn a degree to help their family in various ways, including financially. Data suggested that students performed better when the path to reaching their goal was not littered with uncertainty and self-doubt. This lack of ambiguity was key to increased motivation and connected to overall performance. Choice Theory applies to many firstgeneration college students who arrive at college with little to no preparation in navigating the campus, recognizing institutional resources, choosing a major, and finding helpful information that their continuing-generation college students may already have in their possession (Green, 2015).

Imposter Syndrome Among First-Generation College Students

Imposter syndrome is a pervasive feeling of insecurity, self-doubt, and incompetence despite evidence that an individual's success derives from his or her own work and skills (Robinson, 2017). Furthermore, individuals, especially undergraduates and graduate students, who suffer from imposter syndrome attribute their successes to luck, while feeling like frauds (Robinson, 2017). This feeling is compounded by the feeling they will be unmasked as such (Weir, 2013). In addition to fear, those suffering from imposter syndrome often experience bouts of anxiety and depression (Weir, 2013). Imposter syndrome has six specific components that include: "the need to be the best, the erroneous perception that superhuman qualities are normal, fear of failure, fear and guilt about success and the tendency to discount personal competencies" (Dudau, 2014, p. 130).

Clance and Imes (1978) identified imposter syndrome in their study of successful professional women that emphasized gender role expectations. At the time of that study, it was acceptable for men to attain measures of career success, while women were to fulfill roles of housewives and homemakers. However, when women began to carve out their own successes, there was an inevitable clash with cultural norms, leaving women questioning whether their success was due to intelligence and hard work or other factors. Clance and Imes studied 150 women who experienced imposter syndrome and discovered that personal and professional expectations were lower for women than they were for men. Nelson (2016) noted that the feeling of inadequacy did not dissolve with success. In fact, imposter syndrome connected to four cognitive and behavioral patterns that included a continued sense of phoniness, hard work and perseverance, the introduction of perception, and negative consequences of competence. Therefore, individuals experiencing imposter syndrome could essentially trap themselves in a

cycle of disbelief that their merit and hard work produced their past and current accomplishments (Nelson, 2016).

The causes of imposter syndrome continued to be under study, but some researchers, such as Weir (2013), found a relationship between this phenomenon and family upbringing. Placing a heavy emphasis on achievement could produce damage if the expectations were not met and parents could send mixed signals. When a child had to adapt to conflicting periods of excessive praise or criticism, it could increase the risk of future fraudulent feelings and tendencies (Weir, 2013).

In 2013, Weir administered a survey to minority college students at the University of Texas at Austin and found the students were highly likely to experience feelings of imposter syndrome and consequent mental health problems. Imposter syndrome appeared more commonplace among individuals embarking on new challenges. First-generation minority college students fall into that category because they likely did not receive valuable guidance from family members regarding navigating the college environment (Weir, 2013). Further research by Peteet et al. (2015) suggested that first-generation college students experienced imposter syndrome at higher levels than did other students. Compounded by all the other challenges first-generation college students faced, imposter syndrome could lead to higher withdrawal rates, lower academic aspirations, and prolonged degree completion times.

One obstacle not always connected to the lack of success of first-generation college students was family support. Essentially, the student walked between two cultures, one of family and the other of education (Kish, 2003). Generally, first generation college students might lack sufficient levels of emotional support from family members and might fail to grasp the full demands of being a college student (Peteet et al., 2015). This inadequacy could result in feelings

of distress (e.g., pressure, loss, and disconnection) by attempting to balance external and internal expectations of success, family pressures, and criticism from other intimate groups that judge the student as disloyal for disconnecting from home life to pursue a college degree (Peteet et al., 2015).

Imposter syndrome connects to family background, especially for first-generation college students or those who exceed expectations and family norms of success professionally, educationally, and financially (Parkman, 2016). The impacts of imposter syndrome can be present whether a student pursues a bachelor's, master's, or doctoral degree. Parkman (2016) interviewed graduate students and offered one participant's description: "as a doctoral student in education, there are times when I feel as if I am living in the uncomfortable skin of someone who is seeking validation for the right to grace the halls of academia" (p. 55). Further research indicated that feelings of imposter syndrome were highest among minority populations, especially those on predominately White campuses (Parkman, 2016).

Several underlying negative outcomes associated with imposter syndrome, such as concerns about making mistakes and perfectionism, psychological stress, depression, anxiety, fear of ridicule, and a false sense of competitiveness, can become mental barriers (Chakraverty, 2020). Additional outcomes related to imposter syndrome include academic under-preparedness, decreased health and wellness, burnout, feelings of low self-esteem, self-doubt, feelings of inadequacy, impairment of motivation, and decreased self-efficacy (Chakraverty, 2020). The Clance Imposter Phenomenon Scale, created in 1985, measured individual experiences of imposter syndrome. The scale covered the three dimensions of "luck/chance as compared to one's ability as an indicator of success, fakeness, or fraudness one experiences thereof, and

disregard of personal achievement, "also termed as luck, fake, and discount "(Chakraverty, 2020, p. 435).

Various reasons, such as insufficient academic preparedness, inadequate finances, lack of parental support, minimal on-campus student involvement, and inability to deal to with stress, can cause first-generation college students to drop and not complete their degree requirements (Mehta et al., 2011). To curve this trend of degree incompletion, many colleges instituted mentoring programs focusing on peer and faculty/staff partnerships. Mentors rather than college employees could guide the transition from high school to college by someone with like experiences (Mehta et al., 2011).

The transitional state involved stimulating first-generation college students to lose their passivity and to become more active and passionate learners to gain self-direction and institutional attachment (Folger et al., 2004). To aid this goal, pedagogical relationships proved effective, especially when communication concentrated on the individual student and included empathic care (Wang, 2014). Over time, those relationships could spawn into meaningful transactions that the student viewed as a connection to campus. Pedagogical relationships formed during the transitional period from high school to college provided first-generation college students with a means of support and an outlet to cope with stress (Wang, 2014). Wang (2012) also stated that pedagogical mentoring was effective in increasing self-esteem among first-generation college students, thus creating potential for them to reach their educational goals. This relationship also served as a bolster for student development, a focal point for achieving true academic success.

Imposter syndrome for college students could include complex emotions characterized by a feeling of incompetency and the belief that their achievements were coincidental and not

through their individual merit (Sewer, 2015). Some of those feelings for first-generation students might be ameliorated through mentoring, providing motivation that could also lead to academic success. The definition of motivation in this context is the activation of behavior associated with goal orientation (Petty, 2014). Coupled with past poor academics and the task of navigating the culture of higher education, first-generation college students often feel inferior to their classmates, creating feelings of self-doubt and possibly low retention rates.

Maslow's (1965) Hierarchy of Needs incorporated five distinctive levels, which include physiological needs, safety needs, social needs, esteem needs, and self-actualization needs. Essentially, first-generation college students could have all those needs met at college with selfactualization being the overall result. Self-actualization, according to Maslow (1965), was a process whereby individuals realized their full potential. Motivation aided acquisition of Maslow's physiological and safety needs and allowed the student to demonstrate true potential in the classroom. The next level, social needs, proved critical in the motivation of first-generation college students and their persistence to remain in college (Petty, 2014).

Code-Switching Among Black College Students

Cook (2014) defined the psychological phenomenon of code-switching as the "conscious splitting of the inner self in an attempt to create a character that would be accepted into mainstream society" (p. 1). Mainstream society in this context is the college setting. Specifically, Cook's definition related to African American students attending predominately White institutions. According to Evans et al. (2010), Root described this identity development as border crossing with five different identities: (1) student accepting assigned identity deemed by society, (2) student choosing a monoracial identity, (3) student choosing a mixed-race identity, (4) student racially choosing another identity, or (5) student identifying as White.

Code-switching occurred when an individual chose a method or style of verbal and nonverbal communication based on the situation and the other individuals involved (Elkins & Hanke, 2018). Individuals used determining factors, such as race, region, and social class, in the decision to elicit code-switching behaviors to maneuver multiple social environments (Elkins & Hanke, 2018). In modern society, the term acquired deeper meaning because demographics have significantly become more multicultural and multiethnic. As venues with changing demographics, college and university settings could represent classed systems, an environment where code-switching was a mechanism to navigate socially. For decades educators, the media, and others touted higher education as the avenue for individuals to advance socioeconomically, a message received by the working-poor and lower classes. Individuals in these groups sense a need to navigate various social classes as college students to survive and thrive.

In a study of the meaning Mexican American males made of social class in the college environment, Elkins and Hanke (2018) found that participants perceived dominant social class rules as pertinent to their success. For example, one of the participants claimed that the rules included "knowing how to talk" (p. 38) in general, but also how to do so when speaking with administrators, faculty, and staff. The researchers further stated the experiences of lower socioeconomic participants at elite universities revealed that students actively sought ways to dress and speak that allowed them to "pass" or "hide" clues about their social class. The argument to code-switch linguistically for peer acceptance was particularly evident in professional settings. However, Young et al. (2018) posited that there were costs associated with code-switching for African Americans. Their research revealed that linguistic code-switching caused division because students must separate their dialect registers from their academic registers. This separation could create racial tension and negative perceptions with other African Americans, ultimately producing charges of "acting White". The term acting White illustrated the action of African Americans negotiating their Blackness to adopt standard forms of English as a process of assimilation (Young et al., 2018). Another cost associated with code-switching for African Americans was an increase of negative attitudes toward Black English, which implied that standard English was proper and formal, while Black English was improper and informal. Another cost of code-switching outlined by the researchers noted that African Americans could become linguistically confused about which standard was acceptable and when and how to use it properly (Young et al., 2018).

The Black College Student Experience at Predominately White Institutions

When American higher education began, it was unlawful in most states for African Americans even to be taught the skills of reading and writing. Gradually, however, African Americans gained ground in education at select institutions, giving birth to Historically Black Colleges and Universities (HBCUs) that opened their doors to all students who desired a college degree. Founded by Quakers, Cheyney University, opened in 1837, was the first historically black college but it did not begin awarding degrees until 1914. Lincoln University opened in 1854 and established as a higher education institution that same year. Both universities are in Pennsylvania. Over the decades, other HBCUs developed across the country and quickly became the place where African Americans could receive a formal education to pursue professional roles. Nearly 75% of all African American college students enrolled at HBCUs in 1950 (Allen, 1988); however, by 1982, due in part to desegregation and anti-discrimination laws, nearly threefourths of all Black undergraduate students attending four-year institutions were enrolled at predominantly White institutions (Allen, 1988).

In 2018, 42% of White high school graduates between the ages of 18-24 attended college compared to 37% of Black high school graduates (Hussar et al., 2020). Jones et al. (2002) pointed out that the number of Black students enrolling in college continued to grow annually and institutions, especially predominantly White institutions, needed support systems for Black students' persistence and retention. Such support systems could include cultural centers, diversity in faculty and staff, appealing student organizations, and effective policies that speak against discrimination and racism. The status of being a minority can be situational. For instance, when a White college student enrolled at a HBCU, that student would be a minority. Jones et al. revealed that being a minority on a college campus added another level of stress associated with a higher risk of negative outcomes, both socially and academically. This stress could occur on different levels. "These include (a) social climate stresses, (b) interracial stresses, (c) racial discrimination, (d) within-group stresses, and (e) achievement stress" (Jones et al., 2002, p. 23).

Socialization is one of the most important student factors in terms of retention and overall student success. The socialization model incorporated the process through which persons acquired the skills, dispositions, and knowledge that made them effective members of their society (Padgett et al., 2010). When analyzing student socialization including pre-college background and ongoing interaction, socioeconomic status could affect the college students' experience (Padgett et al., 2010). This concept included learning the appropriate attitudes and behaviors of a particular group. According to Padgett et al. (2010), interaction with peers was the single most important environmental influence on student development.

Research indicated that, when students, especially Black students, built relationships with faculty, they were more successful and satisfied with their college experience (Guiffrida & Douthit, 2006). While these relationships are positive, studies also revealed that forming

relationships could be difficult for Black students because they might perceive White faculty as being culturally insensitive. While cultural insensitivities were not exclusive to college campuses, examples might include White faculty making stereotypical remarks about African Americans, treating African Americans as a monolith, and failure to incorporate African American perspectives into the classroom curricula (Guiffrida & Douthit, 2006).

Many colleges and universities have made increasing diversity on their campuses a priority. Diversity comes in many forms, including race, gender, religious preferences, and country of origin to name a few but socioeconomics is also important. To reach this segment of the population, initiatives, such as recruiting a more diverse student population and offering additional financial aid opportunities for low-income students, are underway (Stephens et al., 2012). Partially as a result of these efforts, first-generation college students represented approximately 17% of the student population at 4-year higher education institutions by 2012 (Stephens et al., 2012). According to Stephens et al. (2012) first-generation college students tend to encounter more academic struggles in college when compared to their counterparts. Furthermore, first-generation college students generally receive lower grades, take fewer credits, and drop out at a higher rate than do continuing-generation students within a four-year span.

Imposterism Associated with Black College Students

As the discussion deepens in regard to imposter syndrome, the phrase fake it until you make it often oversimplified the psychological state that so many individuals lived with in their personal and professional lives (Peteet et al., 2014). Researchers linked imposter syndrome to poor academic achievement, psychological distress, low psychological functioning, and poor self-esteem on a global scale (Peteet et al., 2014). While Ewing et al. (1996) studied the connection between imposter syndrome in African American graduate students and academic

self-concept and identity connected to racial attitudes, Austin et al. (2009) researched imposter syndrome and the correlation to depression and survivor guilt in African American undergraduate students. The results illustrated a positive relationship between the two (Peteet et al., 2014).

Racial discrimination can affect the way that young adult, African Americans view themselves psychologically. Imposter syndrome is a relevant feeling for many high-achieving African Americans and can be a negative outcome of discriminatory experiences due to race (Bernard et al., 2017). According to Bernard et al. (2012) studies analyzing imposter syndrome among African Americans have examined African American students who attended predominately White institutions. Most of these studies found that imposter syndrome was linked to depression and survivor guilt among some African American students who attended predominately White institutions and played a significant role in lowered self-esteem and psychological distress (Bernard et al., 2012)

Imposter syndrome includes what individuals think of themselves but also how they are perceived by others. Coupled, this can culminate in subjective judgements of self-worth that can dictate overall self-esteem. An additional concept, Peteet et al. (2014) coined "defensive pessimism" to describe when self-esteem becomes connected to an incorrect attribution of success, a lowering of standards to meet levels of success and decrease failures, and anxiety. This research is important when connecting all the psychological components that have an impact on African American college students, especially those attending predominately White institutions. Overall, self-esteem is threatened when African American students disengage academically from the campus to avoid negative consequences, cultural stereotypes, and pressures to succeed (Peteet et al., 2014).

Chapter 3. Research Method

The purpose of this study was to explore the perceptions and experiences of Black, firstgeneration college graduates of predominantly White institutions (PWI). The narratives provided a glimpse into the ways these factors influenced participants' undergraduate journey and current lives. Questions that pertained to family support, academic and cultural assimilation while on campus, awareness of differences when the participants visited their home towns, and how these experiences affected their lives while in college and beyond offered insight into the participants' lived experiences. I employed a phenomenological approach in this qualitative study to discover the experiences of college graduates who self-identified as Black, first-generation college students when they attended a predominantly White institution. This study was not limited to a single research site or academic major. However, my study was focused only on Black, firstgeneration college graduates who earned a bachelor's degree at a predominantly White institution. Interviews were conducted through an electronic method with video-based platforms to provide a greater level of contact than a phone interview. The open-ended interview questions encouraged participants to elaborate on certain aspects of their experiences and allowed me to gain an in-depth perspective of those experiences. I assigned pseudonyms to participants to help maintain the confidentiality of their replies to my questions.

The goal was to gain a holistic view of the participants' collegiate experience by asking participants to elaborate on several factors, including social connections, classroom experiences, assimilation to campus, availability of campus services, and use of campus services. The social connections revealed whether the student was a member of a student group or organization, an athlete, a work-study recipient, and how participants built student, faculty, and staff relationships.

Research Questions

This study was guided by the following research questions:

Research Question 1

What were the experiences of Black, first-generation college graduates of a

predominately White college or university?

Research Question 2

What challenges did Black, first-generation college graduates encounter while attending a predominately White college or university

Research Question 3

What were the participants' perceptions of the ways academic and cultural assimilation affected their lives while enrolled in their institution?

Research Question 4

How did the graduates perceive their behavior, language, and attitudes differed while in college?

Research Question 5

In what ways have the participants' experiences while attending a predominately White college or university impacted their current lives?

Participants

The recruitment of participants centered on identifying, by using social media, Black, first-generation, college graduates who graduated from a predominantly White college or university. I posted a description of my study to several online social groups solely or mainly comprised of Black professionals. These groups included Black Student Affairs Professionals (BLKSAP) with over 11,000 members, PhinisheD/FinishEdD a Facebook group with 17,000 individuals currently working on or having successfully completed their doctoral degree requirements, and Empowering First Generation College Students, an advocacy platform of almost 4000 educators who work directly with first-generation college students. Additionally, my academic and professional experiences allowed access to many individuals who matched the desired participants' characteristics for the study. Some groups, based in higher education, support the needs of fellow members by participating in qualitative and quantitative studies, offering professional and personal advice, and networking with others conducting research. After the announcement of my study and a call for participants, 14 potential participants contacted me about my study. Of that number, 11 were judged to fit the study criteria and were chosen to be interviewed.

After potential participants were identified, the follow-up link included broader information regarding the topic, IRB information, and a request for electronic consent (Appendix A). The notification also noted that participation in the study was voluntary and persons could stop their involvement at any time. After I received their electronic consent, an agreed-upon time was set to conduct the video-based interviews. After completion of the one-on-one interviews, all participants received my contact information in case they had additional questions or concerns. I continued interviews until data saturation occurred.

Data Collection

After receiving permission to conduct my study from East Tennessee State University's Institutional Review Board and in consultation with my dissertation chair, data for my study were collected using in-depth, one-on-one video interviews. Eleven Black, first-generation college graduates that attended a predominately White college or university were chosen to be included in this research. Interviews generally lasted about 60 minutes, with the range of 50 to 90

minutes. I developed a semi-structured interview protocol (Appendix B) to guide the interview process. Follow-up questions were asked when appropriate. The interview questions were designed to explore the views and experiences of the participants. Submitting a detailed collection process adhered to all policies and ensured the safety of the participants. Participants were not in hazardous or uncomfortable environments. All the interviews were conducted virtually because the participants were located in many different sections of the U.S. I recorded the entire interview, and then I transcribed each, along with my notes.

Data Analysis

The interview transcripts and my notes were used for the data analysis. Creswell (1998) suggested that all qualitative analysis, regardless of the tradition of inquiry, start by developing and applying codes, identifying themes, patterns, and relationships within the interviews. The information is then summarized using the study's research questions as a guide to categorize the data and begin the content analysis. After applying this initial organization, I used the constant comparative method to look for themes and continued to explore those until all were identified (Glaser, 1965). In the next phase of coding, I identified relationships within the coded material and noted the connections between the codes. Coding, as defined by Creswell and Creswell (2018), is the process of organizing the material into segments of text and assigning a word or phrase to the segment in order to develop a general understanding of the coded material.

The goal was to identify themes, especially code-switching and imposter syndrome, to gain a better understanding of coping mechanisms employed by Black college students. Furthermore, it was interesting to determine whether the participants still described themselves in those terms and, if so, how it had affected their lives and outlook. This study may provide

valuable insight into the academic and social experiences of Black college students attending predominately White colleges or universities.

Role of the Researcher

This topic and its related factors have been an interest to me since I received my bachelor's degree from East Tennessee State University in 2010. When I began my graduate studies at Abilene Christian University, I learned about factors that affected learning in college students, such as imposter syndrome and code switching. I could relate these concepts to my own undergraduate experiences. However, at the time as an undergraduate, I was unable to diagnosis those issues, which included periods of self-doubt, trouble assimilating to campus, adapting effective study skills, navigating college-based systems, and dealing with financial aid terminology. I take pride in being a Black, first-generation college graduate, and I truly understand the psychological barriers associated with students from similar backgrounds that have attended predominately White universities.

Ethical Issues

It is important when conducting research by online methods that researchers protect and respects the rights of their participants. It may be easier to lose perspective when all the interviews are conducted by online video conferencing (Brownlow & O'Dell, 2010). Therefore, I took extra precaution to make sure participants had full knowledge of their rights; were not subjected to deceptive practices; were assured of confidentiality; and were provided with full details of my study. Participants signed consent forms for participation and for any additional information that might not be part of the actual interview. Furthermore, each participant had a pseudonym assigned (Creswell, 2008).

Although I likely shared similar backgrounds with the participants, I did not divulge my experiences to maintain a certain degree of credibility and help eliminate bias. I established boundaries and explained my role as the researcher in detail to the interviewees (Creswell, 2008). To aid credibility and trustworthiness, I saved transcripts and recordings of the video that served as a reference while compiling the data. The transcripts and recording will be stored in a secure location in accordance with the requirements of the ETSU Institutional Review Board. In addition, member check was used as all participants were given the opportunity to review the transcript of their interview for accuracy and completeness. Each participant granted permission to use their transcript in the reporting of my research.

Chapter 4. Findings

The purpose of this research study was to examine the experiences of Black, firstgeneration college graduates of predominantly White institutions (PWI). The essential question of the study was: What are the effects of being a Black, first-generation, college student at a PWI? This study was guided by five research questions.

Participants Profiles

The study's 11 participants graduated from accredited PWIs in the South, Southeast, Northeast, and Midwest. The PWIs included public, private, liberal arts, and research-based institutions with various student populations sizes. The investigator selected pseudonyms, used throughout the study to protect the identity of the participants.

Tyrone graduated from a PWI with a medium-sized population of nearly 16,000 students. He decided that he was going to attend college during his senior year of high school. When asked what he planned to do after high school, he realized that he did not have a plan. While both of Tyrone's parents worked professional jobs, neither earned a college degree. Tyrone stated his parent did not directly encourage him to enroll in college, but they did not discourage him either. Tyrone observed, "my parents just kind of let me navigate my own path." After he became serious about his post-secondary plans, he applied to several colleges and ultimately decided upon what would become his alma mater, mainly due to the school's affordability. With assistance from State scholarships and a Pell grant, Tyrone essentially could attend without paying out of pocket. His major was economics with a concentration in urban and regional development and planning, and he earned a master's degree from the same institution. At the time of this study, Tyrone worked as a buyer of software, hardware, and other needs for a national corporation.

Tammy's alma mater, located in the Southeast, is a large research institution comprised of over 35,000 students. Similar to Tyrone, Tammy did not think seriously about attending college until her senior year in high school. A math teacher asking, "What are your future aspirations?" triggered Tammy's thoughts about her future plans or as Tammy stated, "he planted a seed." Tammy indicated that neither of her parents earned a high school diploma, thus parental assistance in navigating the college entry process was nonexistent. She did mention, however, that her parents encouraged her and her siblings to go to college. The primary factor that persuaded Tammy to enroll at her alma mater was that the institution was well-known and has a great reputation. While Tammy received a Pell Grant, she could not obtain other major scholarships until later years because she missed the initial scholarship deadlines. Tammy later returned to her undergraduate alma mater to earn both her master's and doctoral degrees. She majored in journalism and at the time of this study, she worked as a higher education practitioner in the career services sector.

Tiffany majored in legal studies with a minor in theology as an undergraduate at her alma mater located in the Northeast. Neither of Tiffany's parents attended college and only her father had a high school diploma. Both of her parents were immigrants from a Caribbean Island with defined gender roles: the father was provider and the mother "was supposed to take care of the household and her little brothers and sisters." Tiffany stated that witnessing this dynamic between her parents ignited her passion to go to college because she viewed education as a method of advancing in society. The student population of Tiffany's alma mater was nearly 15,000 students dispersed across several campuses. During Tiffany's college search, she applied to a range of institutions that included public, private, HBCUs, and Ivy Leagues but her alma mater was the only college that accepted her and that was conditionally. Tiffany noted she was a

Pell grant recipient and also relied on federal and institutional aid to pay her tuition. She also earned a law degree from a different PWI located in the Northeast. At the time of this study, Tiffany claimed to be "fun employed" but she spent several years in diversity and inclusion roles in higher education.

Joseph stated his motivation for attending college was primarily that he would be the first in his family to attend a four-year school and earn a degree. Even though no one in his family ever attended a four-year institution, "not going to college was never an option in my household," he said. While Joseph's father earned a high school diploma, his mother earned an associate degree and he attributed a lot of encouragement to attend college to his mother. Joseph was attracted to his alma mater because his mentor in high school was an alumni and majored in the same fields that interested Joseph. Joseph received a Pell Grant to assist with his tuition but did not receive scholarship monies and had to rely on federal aid. Joseph earned his bachelor's degree in political science from a PWI located in his Southeast hometown and pursuing a master's degree at a different PWI. At the time of this study, Joseph worked at his undergraduate alma mater in student services for an academic department.

Jennifer was a graduate of a large research PWI located in the Southeast and earned her bachelor's degree in sociology with a minor in African American studies. Jennifer remarked that much of her motivation to attend college "came from seeing my parents struggle." Jennifer's mother raised her and her brother in a single parent household. Her father graduated high school and served in the military for six years, while her mother earned an associate degree and began work. Motivation to attend college primarily came from her mother; her father's message for her post-secondary plans was "just get a job." Jennifer added, "I knew I needed to go to college in order to do well and for the profession that I wanted to pursue." The deciding factor for Jennifer

when choosing her future alma mater was the proximity to her hometown. Additionally, the school was the flagship institution in her home state and had a great reputation. She received a full-ride scholarship based on financial need along with a Pell-grant that solidified her decision to enroll. Jennifer received her master's degree from a different PWI located in the Northeast and completing requirements for her doctorate degree at a Hispanic serving institution (HSI). At the time of this study, Jennifer worked in higher education overseeing a cultural center at a small, liberal arts institution.

Donna's motivation to attend college was similar to Jennifer's and her response to the question about motivation was, "I didn't want to be poor." Donna described her upbringing as living in Section 8 housing and receiving government assistance. She decided she did not want that for her adult life. Donna's mom enrolled briefly in college but dropped out and her father did not attend college. She described her mother as a source of encouragement for her to make good grades and to enroll in college. Although Donna was accepted into her home state's flagship institution, she could not attend because her parents did not have transportation. Thus, the deciding factor for her school selection was proximity, a college 10 minutes away from her home. Donna earned her bachelor's degree in social work at large public research institution located in the Midwest and was a Pell-grant recipient. At the time of this study, Donna worked as a clinical therapist while pursuing an online doctorate degree from a different PWI.

Melissa indicated that her motivation to attend college was engrained in her from an early age by her parents' knowing that she would be a first-generation college student. As a Pell-grant recipient, Melissa received a scholarship that covered her tuition, which, coupled with small class sizes, aided her school selection decision. Melissa graduated from a small, liberal arts PWI college located in the Southeast where she earned her bachelor's degree in sociology and African

American studies. Melissa earned her master's degree from a large public research institution located in the Southeast. At the time of this study, she had a position as curriculum coordinator within higher education.

Scott stated his initial desire was to join the military and become a chef. However, those plans changed once he realized that he would still have to complete basic training and possibly engage in combat. His high school counselors influenced his decision to attend college because they always discussed their college experiences. One counselor took his class on a college tour to his alma mater and that began Scott's interest in college. Money was the biggest factor in his college choice. He was accepted at Yale but simply could not afford the tuition even though he received a Pell Grant and other scholarships. Scott's father did not attend college, while his mother attended a state university but soon dropped out. He mentioned never getting encouragement from his parents and family. Scott earned his bachelor's degree in history and veterinary science from a rural, public, medium-sized PWI in the Southeast located in the same state as Scott's hometown. He earned his master's degree from a different PWI in the Southeast and completing doctoral requirements at the same location. At the time of this study, he worked as a student affairs practitioner for his undergraduate alma mater.

Toya did not have serious aspirations about attending college. She maintained, "Growing up was like if you can just finish high school, then you've made it." However, because Toya was an athlete, her coach aided her acceptance into a two-year program that transformed into a fouryear program. Even though her mother raised her alone and did not have a high school education, Toya noted her mother as her biggest cheerleader. To avoid going into the military, Toya decided to enroll in college even though she did not have a full understanding of "what it meant to be a first-generation, college student at a PWI." As a Pell Grant recipient and some funds from her mother's part-time job, Toya was able to afford her tuition. Toya's alma mater was a mediumsized, liberal arts institution located in the Northeast where she earned a bachelor's degree in English and a master's degree. At the time of this study, Toya had worked as a student affairs practitioner for 15 years.

Derrick's desire to attend college began in his hometown middle school when he enrolled in a college readiness program that provided the necessary skills for students to navigate college entry. Proximity played a role in Derrick deciding to enroll at his alma mater because it allowed him to continue in his part-time job. Additionally, Derrick could use scholarship funds along with a Pell Grant to pay his tuition. Derrick's mother was a high school graduate, while his father earned his GED. His mother played a major role in encouraging him to go to college. Derrick earned his bachelor's degree in sociology from a small, public, liberal arts institution in the Southeast and his master's and doctoral degrees from two other PWIs. At the time of this study, he worked as a student affairs practitioner at a PWI.

For Jasmine, going to college was always a route she wanted to take after high school. She stated, "I always knew I wanted to go to college. Growing up, I wanted to own a magazine company so that was the reason that I chose my particular major." Jasmine's father was a high school graduate, and her mother was 30 credit hours shy of earning her bachelor's degree. As far as parental encouragement, Jasmine stated that her parent's stance was "either you go to college or you go to work." Jasmine was not a Pell Grant recipient and relied on her parents to pay her tuition for much of her undergraduate years. Jasmine graduated from a large, public, research institution with a degree in communications and earned a master's degree at a different PWI. Professionally, at the time of this study, Jasmine's work revolved around diversity, equity, and inclusion efforts for a private organization.

Interview Results

The reasons that Black, first-generation, college students attend college varies by student. The motivation can be intrinsic, driven by the will to succeed, or the desire to achieve a certain level of financial stability. For my research I interviewed 11 Black, first-generation, college graduates of PWIs and hearing their individual stories was enlightening. The narratives varied in several ways and each story was unique but, I saw similarities and common themes emerged from their personal lives and educational journeys. These themes are listed below and include a series of direct quotes as evidence of the common threads that were identified.

Research Question 1

What are the experiences of Black, first-generation, college graduates of PWIs?

The Role of the Family. Enrolling in college is a major milestone for any college student but staying enrolled is also a huge accomplishment. The role of their immediate family emerged as a theme in research question 1 and pertained to all participants. When asked to describe the role of their immediate family in supporting them financially and emotionally while they were in college, each participant provided some insightful information.

Jasmine stated:

So originally, my mom and dad covered my tuition for the first couple of years, and then they split up. So, my dad stopped helping with tuition. So, I had to apply for financial aid, and I had to get a work study job to cover the rest of my tuition. My mother expected me to pay the rest of my tuition, plus my car insurance. So, I had responsibilities. I had to work on campus and used that money since I couldn't just be out free-willed and spending money. So, that really played a role too, I think, in my experience. Emotionally, I would have to say they played a really big role. My dad would come and take me

grocery shopping, make sure I have what I needed. My mom supported all the events. I pledged when I was there, so they were on board for that. I was in a pageant while I was there, my mom showed up for that. I mean, they were very, very supportive, because I was the only one that was there at the time. My sisters and brothers were all older than me, so it was just me really at home. And they were getting older in their age and didn't have a whole lot to do anyway. So, they were very, very supportive and instrumental, I believe, in my success. Especially my mom. Once my mom and dad broke up, the relationship dynamic at home changed. And it was more of me and my mom versus everybody. So, that really was a turning point for our relationship.

Tiffany's statement focused more on her older sister as a major source of support:

I have a sister who co-signed that private loan, and some of the loans I had to put other names down—like references. I don't even know if the Department of Education even calls these people. I don't feel like they do, but you had to put references on the loan forms, and I did that for some people. But that was pretty much it, as far as financial support goes. Most of the financial support came from the institution itself in different grant monies and scholarships and things like that. I was pretty much on my own for the most part. My younger sister was probably the one that played the most supportive role in my college experience; in just being, I guess, supportive of the things that I was engaging in like coming up to campus every now and then, helping me out with running events, and things like that. I'd always been able to navigate these spaces on my own. I was doing well once I got to St John's because I was intrinsically motivated to demonstrate that I could do well. So as far as studying and office hours and building connections and relationships and things like that, I just applied what I didn't do in high school to college

and that worked out for me. My mother was also supportive in touting my accomplishments as it related to things that I was able to achieve. Therefore, I would say just those two—my mother and my youngest sister were the most supportive emotionally. Tyrone highlighted the assistance from his sister as well:

Financially, I worked during that summer. I ended up working at ETSU as a student worker, so I made a little cash there and then always kept a job when I was in school. So, you know, I would work there to take care of that little balance. It wasn't too much to handle. As far as financially, they didn't provide much financially, but they would send me what they could when they could. My sister would send me \$20 every two weeks until I graduated. When I started college, she said, "I'm going to just put \$20 in your account every two weeks until you finish." And so that was \$40 a month that I had coming besides my check from my little jobs and stuff. Besides that, there were times that I did need help with books. There had been a couple of times that my mom would send me care packages with food and stuff in it. They would send me whatever they could when they could, but most of the time I just had to figure it out, man. I don't remember going hungry so it kind of worked out.

Derrick remarked:

Well, the good thing was at least my mom, at the time, had a job and that really helped. If I needed money, whether it was getting food or purchasing something for class, I didn't really expect to get a lot of things from my family. They helped me with getting stuff for my residence hall room and my mom helped me get my laptop. After that, I started getting jobs on campus. I started trying to save my own, even though I wasn't that great at the financial part of that either. But, definitely helped me in those regards, those small

regards. Absolutely. Oh yeah. That's who I vented to. If there was something that was going on or if I had a question about something or I'm thinking about something. I did have a close group of friends, but my mom was always the one that I would call. If there was something that was going on that was hard, we'd talk through it. Give me a sounding board, or either just encouragement of, you've got this, you can keep going with this. That was always something. Of course, holidays and stuff were great. I remember times being sick. There was one time, I had bronchitis, I remember coming home. She came and picked me up. Just being there through that because I didn't know what was going on. One minute, I'm fine and my temperature's 100 and I'm doing all this stuff. I do think, just because there were times where it was stressful. She was always there whenever I needed her to be able to be there. I even think about that in high school, if there was something that was happening. I always was the person that would try to figure out my own but then it if it gets to a point where, you know what? This is ridiculous. Then I would jump in and ask for help.

Scott's experience varied from many of the other participants because he noted support from home was not readily available:

I don't know if you're familiar with like that country dynamic, but you are kinda struggling on your own. I hate to say it. For me to go to college, I was not able to call home and say, "I need XYZ," but I think that pushed me more to maintain my scholarships and also to get a job in which I ended up getting a job and that was the biggest thing for me in terms of contribution. If I didn't have, I went without or I would hustle to try to get it. When it came to seeing everybody getting refund checks and stuff back, that was something I never quite understood nor was it explained to me because I

didn't have anyone to explain how financial aid worked and of course that turned around and bit me in the butt. When I did begin signing up for like student loans and stuff like that, my school was paid for but by that time I became an RA and I didn't have to have a meal plan, but I saw everybody around me getting a refund check so I'm like, "well, [expletive deleted] let me sign up, someone teach me how to sign up for these loans." That was the biggest mistake ever, but you know, it is what it is. In terms of just having people call and check on you or something like that no support in that fashion. The most I would get is the kind of the standard would be, "you better not go up there and [expletive deleted] up", you know, whatever the case may be. I think the expectation of like failure was just present in my family. As I mentioned, my mom got a basketball scholarship to Memphis State and never finished. I think one of my uncles had attempted to go to college, but he never finished. No one in my family had done that, you know. So, I think the expectation was, I hate to say it, but it was kind of like, "oh [expletive deleted], you gonna get up there and mess up too." But I think that was really the thing that fueled me. The unfortunate circumstances of going through the foster system and being adopted and just that life prior to that was something that always stuck with me. I never wanted to experience it and I wanted to make something better than myself. After my first year of college, I didn't have frequent communication with family. It was almost like it was my own little silo and I was able to really see this as a place that I was excelling, and I was doing well academically. I was finding my own little space and everything so it became a little silo almost. So, I wasn't really getting a lot of support and stuff coming from home or just encouragement anything.

When asked about family support Melissa stated:

Definitely as much as they could. There were a lot of other familial obligations. They definitely helped with other expenses when they could, but my first semester I had two on-campus jobs. Then for the duration of the rest of my college experience, I had three to four continuous on-campus, and then an off-campus job as well. So, a lot of the additional expenses I was responsible for. Yeah, so those things . . . those things really did add up. Yeah. They would definitely support when they could, but a lot of those responsibilities I incurred them myself. Emotionally, they were very supportive. One thing I will say is we're kind of talking about two different worlds. It kind of is two different worlds because a lot of things that I had to deal with sometimes, especially in reference to a PWI, like it's seen as an opportunity and the access from my immediate family and my extended family being very proud of the accomplishments and the journey, but the emotional support sometimes was hard to deal with because of the understanding . . . or you didn't want to take away from the experience that they have, because when going to college, especially as a first-generation college student, it's not just for myself. It wasn't just about me. But the experiences that I had at that institution were not always positive, and so some of those negative feelings were hard for family members to comprehend because it's looking at the access of this opportunity and not really understanding emotions of what I had to go through on that campus lack of belonging or just the micro-aggression, things of those natures. So sometimes it was ... You don't want to come back and be negative about kind of those experiences because you know it's an opportunity that's bigger than yourself. But very supportive emotionally, very understanding of ... especially like the hardships of studying and

being adjusted and getting in and getting out in the four years. So very supportive, but also to a degree of sometimes not being able to understand that experience of what it is like.

Jennifer added:

My mom was the sole provider for any other financial need I had, even putting away money so I could pledge my sorority, or if my work study check was a little smaller that week, she sent me money for food. My first year in college I actually got sick with mono and had to come home and I was quarantined on campus so she was the one to make sure I had the money so that I could at least have food before she could come get me off campus. She made all the sacrifices for me to actually go to school. My dad on the other hand . . . if I called him or if I needed the money, he would send it, but it wasn't like he was willingly giving me the money to survive through college. A roommate gave me money before my dad would give me money just to get around in college. I should've known that my mom would be emotionally invested. When I found out I got into the institution, she actually found out first because at that time parents could make an account and students could make an account, so she actually got the news of my acceptance before I did. I remember that I came in from band practice and she was crying, and I was like, "what happened?" and she's just like, "you got in, you got in, you got in!" So, the both of us are sitting there crying together because, for her, it meant I would have a better access to some things that she didn't have. Also, when she found out I got the covenant scholarship, all her dreams were manifesting. So of course, if I needed help, she was going to be there. When I wanted to do the sorority thing, she didn't quite understand it, but she told me to go for it because her father was a Mason. She

understood the connection of having sisterhoods and brotherhood, so she was going to help me do it. When I struggled at school, she was right there with me. And then, of course, when I graduated, I graduated on Mother's Day, so I think that kind of brought it full circle for her. Like, you know, I was like, I didn't buy anything for Mother's Day, and she said, "but that piece of paper you just got was enough for me." You know, she, she was like, that was enough for me or whatnot. Um, and so she was always emotionally invested. I don't think my dad quite understood because he didn't, you know, he didn't go to school. So, I mean, she, she knows how the logistics of it works and what not, but my dad didn't quite get it or whatnot. Um, even now I don't think he quite gets, you know, the benefit of it. Cause it feels like to him I'm wasting time or whatnot. Um, but you know, the emotional support came from not just my parents, like my grandmother, um, younger siblings, older siblings, because out of my siblings, I'm the first one to complete college. So, I was the first one to finish undergrad. So, I mean, they were supporting me as I got through it and things like that, you know, friends from back home that didn't go to school, all of that. So that's kind of what emotional support looked like for me.

Tammy affirmed:

But yeah, I was definitely Pell eligible and I am very thankful for that financial aid that came in because of my ability to be Pell eligible. Because my family contribution was zero. I remember when the counselor prior to the White woman who told me I wouldn't make it, she was Black. And she left and went to another high school in the city. So, when it came time to filling out FAFSA, whatever it is, I've been saying it wrong for years. And it wasn't until I saw somebody who said, "Black folks, why do we call this

FASFA when it's actually FAFSA?" I was like, "Oh." So of course, I didn't know how to fill it out. My mom and dad definitely, especially my mom didn't know how to fill it out. This is a great example of support. She reached out to the counselor, the black counselor who was there prior me, and who was there with my sisters, who shared that she would help me fill out the FAFSA. And this is when FAFSA was paper. Was it paper? She sat there with us in her living room and helped us fill it out. And that option when it came to student loans, I'll never forget, I was like, "Do I really want that?" And she was like, "Baby, let me tell you something. This is your education. When you born, you a bill, when you living, you going to be a bill. And when you die, you going to be a bill to somebody else. If you going to make some bills, make them bills count. Get your education."

Toya offered that her mom was a key supporter as well:

Oh, my mom was a huge supporter. She even got a part-time job and took out a parent loan so that I could make it through once. And crazy as I was, I've never had a roommate when I lived on campus, probably one semester. And then I became an RA, but I used to invite my family to come on campus with me so that they could come to some of the step shows or talent shows. And my mom began . . . and, I explain it, she never went to college and she didn't know what that experience was like, so I will always give her an opportunity and my younger brothers to have a glimpse. And once she understood the magnitude of me being the first to go to college, she wanted me to succeed. And so, she took a part-time job to make sure that I had it. She took out loans. And, once I found out about being an RA, a resident assistant, I applied and I tried to hold that down so that I can have free housing, free room and board. Emotionally, my mother has been the rock

for me being in college, but because she can only empathize, or she didn't really understand that these classes were hard. And when I wasn't in the student union building, hanging out with Black friends and in the classroom, I felt isolated because I was the only Black person, one or two Black people in the classroom. And my major was English. The professors would accuse me of plagiarizing my work. I had professors that would question my work like, "This black girl can't write like this." And so, I didn't want to go to my mom because I felt she wouldn't understand, but I also didn't want to stress her out. And so, I looked to mentors, it was a secretary and the Dean of Students' office, who I'm still friends with to this day who helped to provide emotional support that I needed to navigate this space.

Joseph also stated the importance of the support he received from his mom:

So, in my first year, my mom actually had to pay around a thousand dollars for four months of each semester. For me to be in school because financial aid didn't cover everything. Going into my second year, I stayed off campus, which cut out the price of the housing package. So, what my financial aid covered, everything just barely. But then, she did pay for my rent and I had a car and she basically had, she took care of all the, all the bills side of my life while I was in undergraduate until my senior year. And then I started paying my rent and things like that, basically up until about my senior year, she was taking care of everything financially for me to be able to survive at college. In terms of emotional support, looking back, I don't really think that I had much emotional support from my family. I think it was a lot of them not fully understanding what college was and everything that I was participating in, and the different ways that it could cause stress, but not being a factory job or, you know, working in healthcare type of stress. So, I

think it was a large disconnect, so there wasn't really much emotional support coming from back home.

Donna stated she had a lack of family support due to the availability of resources:

I mean, they probably gave me food stamps to buy food so I can have food in my dormitory, but that was it. They couldn't help. They were supportive in that regard. If I cry and stuff like that, they will listen. My mom is more of the hard but, than my dad, so my mom was like, get it done and get it done and get it done and get off the phone. A story about that . . . I was in the library to two o'clock in the morning doing my homework. And I told them, I'm like, I'm on my way home, you know, on my way to the dorm or whatever. She called the police and had the campus police follow me all the way back to the dorm. And all of my friends were outside while the campus police was following me to the dorm. I'll never forget that because she was so invested in making sure I made it home safe, but she was glad that I was at the library.

Research Question 2

What challenges did Black, first-generation college graduates encounter while attending a PWI?

Sense of Belonging. The evident theme that arose from the interview questions connected to Research Question 2 was that finding a sense of belonging was difficult at times due to prejudicial, stereotypical, and racist incidents. The majority had this negative experience as an undergraduate.

Scott remarked:

So, I experienced a lot of microaggressions and sometimes outright racist things. However, I think that's honestly what kind of fueled me to be successful because in listening to some of the things that some of the professors would say or when they forced group work nobody ever wanted them to be in the group with me. Those experiences made me fight harder and say, I'm going to prove to y'all [expletive deleted] that I can do this.

Tammy added:

Oh, hell yeah! Oh yeah. They were strong. They were very strong. And you know what's crazy, is, I caught a whole hell of a lot of the micro and macroaggressions more from the White females than what I did with the White dudes.

Melissa agreed:

But the experiences that I had at that institution were not always positive, and so some of those negative feelings were hard for family members to comprehend because it's looking at the access of this opportunity and not really understanding emotions of what I had to go through on that campus, a lack of belonging, or just the microaggression, things of those natures.

When I asked Melissa to elaborate on her experience and its nature, she stated it revolved around race:

I was in my humanities class and a man who was on my hall, he said, "Oh, the riffraff is here." I just like walked in and I looked at my professor, and my professor . . . whom I'm very close to her to this day. She addressed the situation publicly in class because that's who she as a person is, and made this individual write me like an apology. But that happened the second week of classes, and for the whole month and a half of my first semester, I left campus every weekend. After my Friday class ended at like 10:00 a.m., I

was gone the whole weekend. Things of that nature transpired throughout my time during undergrad.

When Joseph was asked about his experiences, he confirmed the presence of aggressions pertaining to racism and mentioned that an issue with racism occurred:

To the point of death threats in 2016. I mean, when we [the band] took that knee, the White students did not understand. And so, after the game we had three cases of assault. One person had a beer bottle thrown at their head. One person was approached with a knife in the bathroom. We had a threat that if we did it again at the next home game that there was going to be hell to pay literally. I mean, we got personal death threats, group, death threats. It was almost all racially motivated and not politically.

Research Question 3

What were the participants' perceptions of the ways academic and cultural assimilation affected their lives while enrolled at the institution?

College Readiness. Research Question 3 posed two specific interview questions. Participants elaborated on their experiences. When asked if they had any concerns about succeeding academically prior to beginning college, the responses varied.

Tyrone stated that he did not have any concerns:

No. I had always been a good student at school. School wasn't something that I ever struggled with but I knew my motivating factor for staying there was that I knew I couldn't go back home. And so, part of staying at [my college] once I arrived and finishing my first year was that I loved it. I got my own room. I had my own friends. I could come in and go as I pleased. It was like I'm living on my own. And, I knew I could not go back home, and to maintain this I had to make good grades. That's just what it is. I have to do what I had to do to stay here. And so the school was never tough. It didn't feel like it was hard at all, but I knew I had to stay and so getting good grades and doing what I need to do in the classroom was paramount. I had to do that. And so, it came natural. It was a motivating factor for me. So therefore, school and making good grades kinda came easy for me.

Tammy stated she definitely had some concerns about grades:

Oh, yeah. Heck yeah! Took that first science class, I was like, "What the hell?" Yeah, that geology. I took geology. Yeah buddy. But the professor, I had a professor of color, he was Indian, who took me under his wing. Let me tell you what I know also helped, too. I went to every last one of my professors' office hours. One of the best decisions I'll tell somebody I ever could have made. I went to every last one of their office hours. And I didn't go later in the semester. I went at the first. At the beginning of the semester. Probably after we got about two or three classes out of the way. And I went to my geology professor's office hours, as well. I'll never forget this man. Because he was so nice. He went to LSU. Can't remember his name, but he literally told me, "Sister you have no problem. You going to be okay." Because I was concerned. I was like, "I've never taken a geology course in my life. What would you say, what would you suggest that I do in order to be successful in here?" I remember him reading, "Come to class. I'll tell you the test. Come to class." He said, "Sister you going to be okay." And I don't know if he was talking about with geology or just in general.

Melissa offered her concerns:

Yes. It was really a different language to me. I could do the work, but it was kind of just a different world in general of doing things in a certain way. Writing was really my weak

point, and still is even in graduate school. That's something that I'm developing, that I'm becoming more comfortable with. But in some classes, I had professors that I didn't feel comfortable using their office hours just because of kind of rhetoric that they displayed and things. So, I was kind of trying to find my own ways to re-direct or re-navigate, and a lot of times that came, again, from that transition program that I mentioned. So yeah, I did kind of. And there were classes that I definitely struggled in academically, but that transition I kind of just found my . . . built my network through the people I could trust and I became comfortable in asking them for help. But it wasn't until I reached that level of trust that I definitely struggled in learning how to study, learning how to do presentations and write papers in a certain way. So, it was a transition, but I just kind of was able to navigate sometimes the bare minimum, get by the bare minimum with those few people until really I would say my junior year was when I really kind of started to get things to click and understand more of the academic process.

Scott mentioned that his perception of academic preparedness was mixed:

I would say yes and no. I would say yes because the classes were hard especially after my first year since I was the only Black student in my upper division history and vet classes. So yes and no it did play a factor, but I did know that I did not want to go back home. I didn't want to be what I felt like my family wanted me to, like a failure, if that makes sense.

Derrick also expressed some ambivalence regarding concerns about academic preparedness: Yes and no. I do, obviously. You come from that high school mindset and things were a little bit easier. Like, oh, okay. You walk in there and you realize, oh, wait. This is a lot more. Oh, wait, there's only four exams? That's it? There's nothing else? It was and I

was kind of like an up and down roller coaster for a little bit. I do think, honestly, when I started getting into my third and fourth year, I felt more comfortable because I was writing more papers, I was able to put more of my thoughts and ideas. I was really good at piecing things together versus legitimate classes where it's, you need to know this information and be able to regurgitate it back, in a way. I don't think I felt as prepared at the beginning. I knew that I had certain resources. I did well in high school so I didn't actually think that I needed certain things. Realizing that things could have been a lot better if I had taken more advantage of it. Even in high school, there wasn't that many resources for those types of things. Yeah, you can meet with a teacher after school but that was it. I do think at the beginning it was a struggle but towards the end I was like, okay, you have to write these papers. I would go to The Writing Center because I knew that the content was fine but it was the grammatical stuff that needed help with too. I also had one professor that just left mid-year so we had an interim professor for the rest of the semester. Last paper she said, "three errors, F." I was like, okay. Let's go to The Writing Center, and you know I went. You know I took their suggestions. There better not be more than three errors. It was a scary moment at that point but that was one of the best papers I wrote. I don't even know if I still have it now, but I thought I kept it because it was one of the best. I put a lot of effort and it was a great topic, I don't remember what the topic was but I just remember I put a lot of effort into it. And, the research that we did. I didn't realize how much I enjoyed research and to kind of have a stop and still between grad school, but when I had the opportunity to do it again, it was great. I do think academically it was hard at the beginning. I don't think I used my resources as well as I could have.

Donna expressed that she did not have many concerns about academics:

No, actually that's and that's funny because I didn't, I knew that I had the tenacity to like do it and try, and I wasn't gonna let my friends leave me behind. I was going to be better than them. That kind of sucks, but I knew that I was going to finish. So, I didn't worry. When I got my first F like, I was like, okay, like this sucks. I knew I just had to try harder. And if it took me five years instead of the traditional four, then that's my own fault.

Joseph voiced his concerns:

That was actually one of my number one concerns about attending my alma mater in the first place. I felt like as a Black student at a White school, they won't be as difficult as a Black school. And I was like, you know, honestly, I'd rather go to this school where I could probably get away with a few more things and get through a little bit easier than to go to this other school and end up failing out.

Toya stated her concerns about academic success:

Absolutely. Again, being in this two-year program, I didn't realize that I wasn't really fully accepted to the program. I was like, "You can't tell me I didn't go to [my college] and not this other school." The building was far. And I wasn't the only one. I don't know, I was just maybe aloof in a sense, because I had some other friends who lived in the residence halls with me and two, we would take the shuttle over there. And all my other friends that I knew, their buildings were much closer. And I didn't realize it was for the slow people, that's what they say, "You didn't really get in."

Jasmine offered her opinion:

I did, because I was an okay high school student. I did what I needed to do to get by and I was worried what that would look like. It's college, I didn't have anybody making me get up and go to class, and making me turn this in, and making me attend this event, and do these kinds of things. And I was worried on how successful I would be because I didn't have a role model. My mother didn't really finish and she was very private and didn't want to talk about her experience. I couldn't go to her and ask, "This is happening, what can I do?" At the time, to be honest, I was in a bad relationship. So, I had that going on and he was attending the same school as me. So, that may for some difficult times. So initially I didn't think I would be successful, and I was worried about going. I really was. I was a nervous wreck. I didn't know how to navigate this big place of people that didn't look like me and didn't really care about me and my success. So I thought, how am I going to succeed? I didn't know how I was going to do it. I didn't know at all. I had no idea.

Jennifer added:

I think so. I think there was a high pressure on me or what, not, not necessarily just in, you know, me, the individual, but there was pressure from my hometown. I mean, the bar was really high because I had graduated third in my class, you know, that year, the top, what out of the top 15, 10 of us were students of color or whatnot. So I mean, we, we set the bar really high, you know, um, and there was a lot riding on it. I mean, even being voted most successful, you know, out of my class and stuff like that. So yeah, you naturally go into college thinking I wanted to do well. I wanted to do really well. And then I don't know if I didn't think I was ready for it, but I don't think anybody had ever

had that conversation with me of, oh, when you go to college, you need to change the way you study. You need to change how much time you dedicate to study. And because I've gotten through high school with no problems. So, and that wasn't a conversation that any of my counselors had had with me or whatnot.

Tiffany didn't really voice any concerns about academics:

I didn't ...I think that put a lot of pressure on myself, especially in my first semester, to, get all A's and I just had this mindset that it had to be an A or better, and I thought that anything less than an A was representative of failure. And then within week four or five of classes starting, I had to do a demonstration for my public speaking class. And I chose to do something that went well past the time limit, and I think I got an A minus on that assignment, and I was sitting there crying on a bench outside of the classroom. The girl that was a classmate that I had, her name was Simone. And she was like, "you know, it's okay, an A minus isn't that bad and you'll still be fine in the class". And I was like, "you don't understand". So, I think that, I put a lot of pressure on myself to really perform outside of the bounds of like self-care.

When asked if their alma mater offered adequate support to help them and other minoritized students get adjusted to college life, the majority of the participant's responses indicated that the needed support was not present, while others found adequate institutional support. Tammy noted the absence of institutional support during her underclassmen years, but support seemed to increase prior to graduation:

No. When I first got there, no. The alumni association had their first black president during the time that I was an undergrad, like my junior/senior year. And the big thing that really began to shake it up, too, was seeing faculty and staff of color. Seeing people who

look like you, and not just necessarily working in auxiliary services, or in the cafeteria, or in the student union. Like being able to see faculty and staff who looked like you popping up across campus.

Scott noted the lack of institutional support:

No. I think getting here Black students try to find that community and support within the Black student population, but just as an institution, the support wasn't there especially looking back now. I think the school was intentional in doing a lot of things to stop or decrease the number of Black students or students of color that were enrolled. So, in terms of support, you saw a lot of students of color come in, but then by the next semester or the next academic year, you saw probably half if not more of them leaving or not returning. We had a good time, but in terms of measures in place that were supportive and helped students maintain their academics and stuff like that, I don't think those resources were readily available.

On institutional support Melissa noted:

Not at all. A lot of the support I would say came from peer support groups. There was a transitions organization that upper junior and senior students of color were our mentors kind of coming in. They kind of sat us down and said, "Hey, here's you go to." So, we kind of found informal familiar networks on the campus of faculty and staff who we knew that would support certain things, but as far as from the administrative level no. Yeah, there was no support network really that we had. That kind of even started just from the racial lens, but that further turned into.... So, I came in early because of my scholarship to find that I was able to sign up for classes, but post that meeting with advisors, there were certain aspects of like forms that I needed signed that I didn't learn

about in my FYI class, I didn't learn about from my advisor. I had to find out things the hard way, so that really impacted my academic transition as well of not really feeling prepared in the classroom either.

Jasmine remembered:

I would say, not necessarily the university, but definitely the scholarship group that I was a part of. That was what they did. They made sure that we had a connection and that we felt comfortable and that we felt valued while we were there. But the university as a whole, not so much at all. Yeah, not at all. I was lucky enough to know people in pockets, especially after I joined my sorority. So that helped my sense of belonging and sense of having a voice. But other than that, I would say definitely not. There was nothing prepared. They were not prepared for that at all.

Joseph stated the following about institutional support:

I can say that when I was a freshman, sophomore, they were not helpful at all to me. Mainly I think, I think honestly, had I not been in the marching band and everything, I don't think I would've made it through my first year and even stayed in college to my second year. It was, it was a lot of, it was a lot of adjusting because high school came easy to me. I just had horrible study habits and there was like coming into college, there was no kind of support system to explain anything or to explain that this is a three-hour class and you need to spend nine hours on it a week, but they didn't, they never understood. So, I can definitely say that my first year there was not any support that I saw personally for students like me.

Toya remarked:

I don't think that this particular institution provided me really with the tools that I needed. I learned how to survive by leaning on peers. And like I said, the secretary who had no degree at the time, was a mentor to me. So just say, "You have come this far, you can make it." But they had a EOF, I don't know what you may call it in South Carolina, but they had what we call in New Jersey, an Educational Opportunity Fund program. I guess this is like a TRIO program.

Jennifer stated that support was present:

I do actually. I know it's kind of contradictory considering everything that has happened at my institution since I've graduated but I mean even taking the step to provide me what they called a minority advisor. So, I got paired with a senior that was from an area similar to mine and we just connected. She was who I would talk to and ask questions like, "where do I get my hair done?" or "where can I go find the soul food?"

Tiffany observed there was support in place:

I think my alma mater did a good job in acclimating students to the point that they want students to listen to the rules and things. They have a very good way of picking orientation staff that people want to gravitate to and be friends with and things like that. And those people then, in turn, and the same with RAs, those people then, in turn, espouse all of the values of the institution in ways that make other people want to ascribe to them. I felt that my alma mater was different from other institutions that I worked at and I saw myself represented in people in leadership positions at all levels. That included student leadership, but also administrative leadership as well. And I think that that was helpful in demonstrating to a first-gen student that it was possible to be whatever it was I wanted to be. That demonstrated that there were places and spaces at the institution for people to occupy, and to be able to feel whatever passion they wanted to, especially in my advisers. I think all my advisors were people of color, now that I think about it. Tyrone expressed that the support was in place:

I do. I actually thrived off of that. I actually used to work with the director of multicultural affairs there. From day one, I had her in my back pocket . . . even until the day I defended my master thesis, I had her in a room with me for support. Lisa Bell, Keith Johnson. There were several professors and administrators that let me know that they had my back. So, I definitely think there was a good support system when I was there. They were there for me. They definitely were instrumental in that they created a sense of family for me. I appreciated that.

Research Question 4

How did the graduates feel their behavior, language, and attitudes differed while in college?

Code-switching and Imposter Syndrome. The interview questions associated with Research Question 4 revealed the majority of the participants shifted their behavior to fit into certain environments and roles on campus in order to feel accepted.

Tyrone stated that he did not alter or diminish his norms because he didn't know how to:

So, I've never had to diminish myself or make myself smaller so anyone else could feel comfortable. What I did do though is learn how to speak with different people. Not change the way I talked or anything, but I did learn to just communicate a lot better. Being around a lot of different people. So, it, it did teach me that, but I always kept the core of myself there. So, I didn't diminish myself at all.

Tammy shared her experiences with code-switching:

I experienced that a whole hell of a lot in high school. But prior to joining my sorority, I would say, "Yes." At summer orientation, I was one of maybe two Black people. He was an upperclassman. He is a member of a NPHC [National Pan-Hellenic Council] fraternity so as far as me being able to have camaraderie with another person of color other than him.

Melissa reported she had to adjust her behaviors:

That definitely really happened, again really towards the beginning. I was in my freshman so in my first year, and in my sophomore year. Towards the end, in certain atmospheres you had to play that card, but towards the end of my time, especially after my junior year . . . In my senior year I did not play that code-switch card I will say in the classroom. There were times still because I worked in the Office of Advancement, I was in certain presidential arenas and atmospheres where you knew that card, you had to come out and play that, so I code-switched often. My first year, it was just kind of a very shock of like and very apparent that you didn't belong. A lot of times I found myself more so in the community that I resonated more with than the actual institution. My space where I didn't have to perform those performances, gestures, or actions.

Scott noted that he changed his normal behaviors and felt he had to code-switch:

Heck yeah! During my second semester of freshman year, I had one of the Black professors on campus. One day I nodded off in his class and he made this statement about me being from Memphis and he really embarrassed me in front of the class. Since then I never would fall asleep in class and I always sat in the front. It would always seem as if there was this expectation, especially because I would be excluded from group work that

I was dumb or I didn't know stuff. So, I always wanted to make sure that I, I hate to use this term, but like "represented for the culture." I wanted to counteract that perception of what they thought a tall, skinny, Black boy was because I always got the question, "You must be here for a basketball scholarship" or "What are you doing in these classes?". Especially once I started getting into the upper division classes, like it was a struggle especially because I think I got a little bit of narcolepsy. It was a matter of codeswitching and everything like that, but from those moments, I realized that I did not want to be the brunt of jokes. However, at a point you realize that you were in a class with some ignorant people and their expectation of you were you're going to be dumb especially when certain topics came up that centered around race. At times I look back and I was very much disappointed in my either lack of being able to articulate intelligently and come up with an adequate response to combat some of their ignorant statements, or just kind of just being silent about it. So, those are some regrets, but I definitely felt the need to code-switch and everything when I got in certain classes and spaces.

Donna described her code-switching as well:

Oh yes, most definitely. When I worked in housing, I worked in freshmen dorms. It was definitely different, especially when I worked in other dorms, ones that weren't freshmen dorms. So, these were more graduate students. I definitely had to be different or, you know, not appear to be like, I don't know what I'm doing. I definitely didn't wear the funny looking hairstyles, what they would say was funny but I thought it was cute. Because of the professional nature that I was in front of all these people, people would come through the front desk, I'm checking people in. So yeah, I did switch things up.

Derrick related:

I definitely would think so and I did it without knowing. I think about clothes for one example. There were times when I wore the sports coat to go to this event because I knew that other people would be doing that same thing. Especially the White people that were there. Or, to have to be able to impress someone. I do think I definitely changed speech patterns a lot. Especially different groups, depending on what group of folks I was with. Again, not realizing I was doing it. Especially in front of administration because talking with them, of course, is going to be a little different. I still do that now. Well, somewhat. Lately I've been a little more down to earth in some of these conversations, because I'm like, I need you to understand and feel the passion that I feel about this.

Joseph stated that he felt the need to code-switch to adapt:

Yes, I mean it could be anywhere from when I was a drum major addressing the whole band or when I was a bus driver having to address students who were doing things they weren't supposed to do on the bus or in class. Basically, all the time. For me, it was more of who was the audience and connecting to the audience. Knowing that 90% of the people on the bus would be White, anytime that there was an issue, they were always White. It never failed that, if I was driving, there was an issue or if there was going to be a problem, most likely a White male student. In the band, basically 19 students, including myself, we took a knee to a national anthem while the rest of the band played. So, there were still students in the band who were against us, even when I became drum major and was now a leader.

Toya observed that she felt the need to shift in order to avoid negative racial stereotypes:

Absolutely. I felt that way in the classroom all the time. I think it was probably only until my later years in college that I realized that Black students did not run this campus. Most of the students were White and it was a commuter school. So, it was an affluent area and one of the richest counties in the state. We [the Black students] didn't realize that we were the minorities. And so, I really felt my color inside the classroom. A lot of my classes were English, and I think a lot of my peers were probably maybe taking business classes, sociology, or criminal justice classes. So, it wasn't a lot of my inner circle that was taking English classes and the English professors, they had been there for so long and it was a lot of white students. And, I took a literature course, so I definitely felt I had to scale back and watch what I wore since I had bright color hair and long nails and there was a perception about not just me, but black students that were ghetto. So, I did feel at times I had to be mindful so that they wouldn't stereotype me, but I know I didn't have any control over how they view.

Jasmine reported situational occurrences of code-switching:

So yes, as an undergrad student, there were times that, the university boards that I sat on and there were times I'd have to put on another face to attend those meetings. I couldn't go in as the [Black woman] that I am. I had to deal with a lot of imposter syndrome. Where you have to fit in this little box that they want you to fit in, or you're not welcomed, you're not received well. And there was a lot of that because I was on so many different boards that had the mixed race. It wasn't people that looked like me. It was people that wanted me there, but didn't really want my voice. I was more like a number.

Jennifer stated:

I would say I felt like that more when I was a political science major because you just didn't have a whole lot of students of color that were assigned majors. It was a different expectation. It was a different feel. Depending on where you are on campus, you couldn't be your full authentic Black self and everything. I stayed in south campus, which if was mostly Black students so when I was down there, I could release my hair down, someone down the hall would have a fish fry, or you can go get your hair done on this hall. You had to switch it a little bit depending on who you talk to and how you talk to them. But once I dropped a political science major, it was almost like "you can be Black now" because my sociology professors never had a problem with it. Once I switched majors, it gave me the power of confidence to be who I am not feeling like I had to code switch.

Tiffany remarked that she shifted her behavior on a minimal level but also discussed codeswitching:

I think with my work study job, I did a little bit have to code switch just because the environment. I worked in the office of business affairs and that was like a math thing, but it was like simple math. So there, I think there was an expectation of being polished and proper and ascribing to these ideals of White heteronormative society in a way that for instance—in the office of multicultural affairs that wasn't a thing because they understood being able to come to work as your full and authentic self. Whereas that wasn't necessarily the case in business affairs, and I think that maybe representative of the fact that the business office is not tied to a student affairs space, but more reflective of a prevailing cultural-American identity and expectations. I think was only space where I was like expected to ascribe to those sorts of like values and ideals, but everywhere else, I

didn't feel like I had to code switch or assimilate in way in any way, shape, or form, really.

Research Question 5

In what ways have the experiences at PWIs impacted the current lives of Black, firstgeneration college graduates?

Living Off Experience. Research Question 5 allowed the participants to reflect on the way in which their experiences as Black, first-generation college students impacted their perspective, personally and professionally.

Tyrone stated:

Just the professionalism, being able to communicate. Each day, I'm speaking with somebody I don't know so it definitely taught me how to communicate with a wide range of people who probably aren't from the same background as I am. So, it definitely taught me how to communicate with those people and . . . that's the main thing just taught me how to communicate with people of all different backgrounds.

Tammy remarked:

It has truly prepared me for dealing with White folks. Dealing with the macro, the microaggressions. And I know it ain't the healthiest, dealing with the micro/macroaggressions, as well as, I will say this in a more positive light, being at a PWI and even working at a PWI, when I can see students of color, because they're already looking you out for solidarity and solace, anyway. So, when you encounter these students of color, being able to share my experiences with them because it's them talking to me about what they're going through.

Melissa shared that her experiences were positive:

My service in those student orgs, but really coming from working in the ODI office, is how I ended up in higher ed. The dean at that time, I was graduating . . . And that kind of goes back to preparation. I was a month and half out from graduating. Well, I knew I wanted to do diversity work and/or civic engagement work, so I had been applying at some high schools to do diversity and inclusion. The dean said, "Have you ever thought about student affairs?" I said, "I have no idea what that is," and he said, "That's what I do." So, my leadership really kind of shaped who I was and it allowed me to see a career doing things that I care about and saw ways in which that can impact relations. Right now, I'm really passionate about relationships between institutions and communities, so that's something that we kind of oftentimes see institutions as being within communities. But now doing work with minority-serving institutions and HBCUs is a very different pathway than what I've seen done, or where I see PWIs to be.

Scott reported the way in which his experience added to his understanding of best practices to assist Black students:

I think now from my experiences it has made me be a lot more intentional in how I support and advocate for students who look like me. I established a faculty and staff mentoring collaborative or mentoring program. I make sure that, at the beginning of every semester, I have a resource guide for students of color that come in. I'm intentionally and keep communicating with students from underrepresented populations. And what I mean by that is every three weeks I send out a check-in. I'm like, "Hey, what's going on?" "How y'all doing?" or whatever the case may be and those students that respond back, I connect them to appropriate resources or make sure that I'm

advocating and fighting for them. I also work to get students involved because I advise our NPHC and our multicultural organizations. So, making sure that I can connect students with those support systems. And also, just in terms of the leadership development I provide opportunities for them to go to different places, but also opportunities that teach them how to stand up for themselves, how to present themselves in high-esteem and see the bigger picture.

Donna noted that her educational experiences and upbringing helped her build relationships with the people in her work:

Professionally, was just in the center of it all and I could of grew up in some of the same areas that these ladies [incarcerated women] I work with grew up in educationally wise, it was just the knowledge that I gained from college, plus my experience living in Detroit mixed together, I believe, definitely benefits me because the prisoners see me as somebody that can help them, but they also see me as she knows our struggle.

Derrick observed that his involvement on-campus aided him in finding a sense of belonging: I think that getting involved while in college helped. One, it gave me a new sense of idea about certain things, but also it humbled me in a way, too, because of knowing some of the things that they went through. Making sure I'm cognitive of that whenever I'm planning for talking to the students or things like that, maybe to pull back from the experience. Those things prepared me, based off working with other people's children but then also just some of those tidbits of things I've learned along the way helped in the role. Also, it helped with just trying to be careful with tone sometimes in certain situations. But, still learning to get my point across. I do feel a little bit more comfortable, obviously because I've been there. I know where everything is, or at least know some things.

Obviously, some things change, but it's obviously a challenge too so I want to say it definitely impacted, my undergrad experience definitely impacted, just because of being involved as a RA and being involved as a President Ambassador.

Joseph added:

Professionally, I have a different level of empathy for the students that I deal with a lot of times because having been the not-so-stellar student all the time and needing help getting into classes and having failed a class or needing little massaging. Having had that experience and having been someone who didn't understand the system, when I get questions from students and advisors I always kind of tap back into where I was just a few years ago.

Toya reported:

I'm rooting for everybody Black! The institution where I work prides itself on being the leader, the number one tool of public health in the world, and they attract the brightest and the best. And we get a lot of Black students from all over the world. Parts of Africa, they come from the wherever, and it's not a lot of black students or professionals that look like this. And so, when they see me, they just had that look like, "Is you good?" My experiences have propelled me now that I understand what it means to be a first-generation college student. Now that I know what it means to be a Black woman in higher ed and looking at all of these challenges, the systemic racism that we experience, I feel I have a responsibility to make sure that in all of my roles, do what I can to make sure that all my Black and brown people have an office that they can come to, a staff person that they can come to, to get support, because I know that they are smart.

Jasmine stated:

DEI [Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion] work is what I do now. It's my passion. And I know it's because of my experience as an undergrad. I was blessed to have had a great advisor through my undergrad . . . she was there for me. I got to see her every time I went to that advising center. Most advising centers you see whoever, but I got to see her every single time. And, I think that made a difference, because she made me feel wanted and welcome. She made me feel like she cared. And so, that passion that she had translated to when I was an advisor for my students, I was the same way. I made sure that they knew that I'm going to do everything I can to get you through. Whatever that is, whoever I need to advocate for, whoever I need to talk to, I did it for my students. And then in professional career, I do a lot of the ER [emergency room] training and workshops. And I know it's because that's my passion. When we're filling those microaggressions and we're dealing with imposter syndrome, and we can't be who we really are, and they keep asking, "Are you okay?" No, you're not okay. So, I'm trying to give people the tools that they have to express themselves in those kinds of situations. So, it truly affected me, and I think it made me the professional that I am now. I'm more aware of my situations and my surroundings. I know that they're looking at me some kind of way. I know that they're thinking something. I already see it coming, so I'm able to prepare for it better. And I think it's because I went to PWI.

Jennifer expressed her opinion:

I'm actually writing about that for my dissertation because I'm looking at like black millennials and student affairs professionals. And one of my points that I've come across is why we get into the field. Why are we, as young, black millennials, getting into the

field? And when I started reading over it, I was like, "that's why I got into the field," You get into the field because you remember going through the PWI, you remembered the people that helped you get through. I'll never forget my advisor. You remember the few black people . . . like I remember the black woman in the dining hall. I didn't have a dime and I never had a dining plan, but my friend would have meal swipes and she would buy my meals sometimes. All your professors that helped you along the way.

Tiffany stated that her undergraduate experiences exposed her to a more global society:

I think my alma mater allowed me to be exposed to new people, thoughts, ideas, and experiences that I didn't even know existed. Because for a very long time my world had been just like South Jamaica, Queens with this Jamaican identity—from an underclass community. So, when I went to college that was the first time I had any classmates that were White. Growing up in Queens, most of the people that I went to school with were either Black or brown so being exposed to White for the first time was an experience . . . a whirlwind experience. My institution provided me with a lot of things that I don't think I would have gotten if I had went elsewhere. For example, when I was on the president's society, I knew so many people, and then when it came time to take that class that I would have to pay, the institution paid for it for me. We had this excursion to Paris and I was like, "Yo, I can't afford this . . . I guess I'm not gonna be able to go." Then I got an email saying that between the Office of Multicultural Affairs and the Provost Office, we were able to make it possible for you to go to Paris to engage in this trip. Being exposed to different types of people too was also helpful for me in understanding that one type of people are not representative of an experience. So, for example, understanding that there were Asian people that were cool and they were Asian people that weren't cool,

understanding that there are Black people that are cool and there are Black people that weren't cool. So, instead of demonizing an entire group, I was able to understand that essentializing a race based on my experiences with individuals within that race was not conducive to liberation in ways that have informed my solidarity, my social justice work, and activism, which I hope will impact the students that I come into contact with and having them understand that the systems of oppression are operating across all different types of races and different types of ways. If you're only aware of how this is impacting Black people, you're not going to be able to understand how this can be reified and re operationalized to impact other groups into eventually impact you. That's been helpful. My alma mater has taught me to very much be aware of issues that not only impacted my community, but the communities around me. It also very much instilled values of community service. Before going to college, I had no idea about what purpose community service was providing me with, but in understanding that we see everyone in the world is an extension of myself and caring for people in ways that would allow for disruption of the systems of oppression is exactly what a service is all about and intended to do.

Chapter 5. Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The purpose of my study was to explore and gain insight into the overall experiences of Black, first-generation college graduates of predominantly White institutions (PWIs). Through interviews, 11 participants provided qualitative data that offered a perspective into their experiences as undergraduate college students. This chapter begins with a brief overview of the study's context, followed by a discussion of the findings, and finally recommendations for practice and for further research.

Research Questions

The interview questions (Appendix A) asked of participants aligned with the five research questions to help guide the conversation and organize the data:

Research Question 1. What are the experiences of Black, first-generation college graduates of PWIs?

Research Question 2. What challenges did Black, first-generation college graduates encounter while attending a PWI?

Research Question 3. What were the participants' perceptions of the ways academic and cultural assimilation affected their lives while enrolled in the institution? Research Question 4. How did the graduates feel their behavior, language, and attitudes differed while in college?

Research Question 5. In what ways have their previous experiences at PWIs impacted the current lives of Black, first-generation college graduates?

Motivation and the Role of Family

When the participants reflected on their individual motivation for being the first in their families to attend college, two themes emerged. The majority of the participants had parental

motivation to excel or they viewed a college degree as a means to escape poverty. These goals provided intrinsic motivation. This finding related to Glasser's (1998) Choice Theory. Glasser (1998) stated that the basis for internal motivation included several factors, such as the need for survival, belonging, or autonomy. None of the participants indicated that either of their parents earned a bachelor's degree but that their parents worked hard to provide a good life for their families. The second theme related that several participants had a high school teacher or counselor who motivated and encouraged them. Most of the participants reported they performed well academically in high school; but it was the guidance and motivation from key adults that encouraged them to apply to college, attend, and graduate.

Institutional Financial Aid

Ten of the participants were either eligible for or recipients of the Pell Grant either for the entirety of their undergraduate experience or at some point. The basis of Pell Grant funds was on income information provided by the Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA), completed each year to determine financial aid packages (Delisle, 2017). Additionally, in terms of financial support, many of the participants chose to attend their alma mater based on of affordability and overall cost of attendance. One participant, Emily, detailed the full scholarship that she received:

Also, the money was a factor because I actually attended my institution on a full ride. It wasn't merit-based per se it was need-based. So, it was a scholarship program in which if you could get into the institution on your own merit but if you were below a certain poverty level, they would pay for you to go to school. So, they paid for me to go completely all four years plus provided work study, paid for books, all of that so that was a big incentive.

Further, another participant, Melissa, stated that the full scholarship was the deciding factor but the type of scholarship was appealing as well in the final decision to attend her alma mater:

It was the scholarship. I was looking to be pre-med going into college and a physician that my mother had worked for, he had attended this institution and he said, "Hey, if you're wanting to get into pre-med or go into medicine this is the route to go." So, I applied for a scholarship that would cover all four years. It was based on service, so I was very involved in community service from an early age within my community, within my church, so the scholarship was appealing to me not only from the financial aspect, but

from what the scholarship was actually about, being involved in the community as well. Most participants indicated that their parents were unable to provide significant financial support while they were in college, thus scholarships and on-and off-campus jobs were important for filling in financial gaps and purchasing necessities.

Dealing with Stereotypes and Racism

The majority revealed that they dealt with incidents of stereotyping or racism during their undergraduate experience. This finding supported Sinanan (2016) who stated that Black students often experience microaggressions related to bias and racism during enrollment at PWIs. Some of the incidents noted by participants stemmed from perceived stereotypes pertaining to clothing, hairstyles, hometowns, and speech patterns. The same participants who had profound negative experiences mentioned the need to adapt new behaviors and adjust attitudes to assimilate and disassociate from negative perceptions. In the literature, Cook (2014) referred to this shift as code-switching in which individuals consciously created a separate character in an attempt to be accepted into the mainstream.

Black Faculty and Staff Support

Another common finding my research illustrated was that many of the students indicated that a Black faculty or staff member at their alma mater provided support on some level. One participant, who expressed that his alma mater provided adequate support to aid his adjustment to college mentioned that:

I actually used to work with the director of multicultural affairs there. From day one, I had her in my back pocket. Even until the day I defend my master thesis, I had her in a room with me for support. So, I definitely think there was a good support system when I was there. They [Black faculty and staff] definitely were instrumental in that they created a sense of family for me. I appreciated that.

In the literature, Jones et al. (2002) stated that PWIs needed to equip themselves with support systems to accommodate the growing number of Black students enrolling in college. Several supports included effective policies that combated discrimination and racism, appealing student organizations, and ethnic diversity among faculty and staff.

Conclusions

The purpose of this phenomenological qualitative study was to gain insight into the experiences of Black, first-generation college graduates during their undergraduate years at PWIs. While there were similarities, the findings demonstrated that each graduate had the motivation to earn a bachelor's degree even when financial support was not always available, a sense of belonging was not always present, and despite incidents of stereotyping and racism. Campus engagement was a strong contributor in helping the graduates find a sense of belonging and many of the clubs and organizations that they joined during their time as undergraduates were with other Black college students.

First-generation college students arrive may with many attributes that include adaptability, perseverance, resourcefulness, and a strong sense of community. Being a Black, first-generation college student at a PWI magnifies the importance of these traits, but it is the actual experiences of Black students that can uncover negative feelings of imposter syndrome and inadequacy.

Five research questions provided structure for this qualitative study and those questions served to analyze the answers to the interview questions, ranging from the matriculation process (learning about and applying to colleges) through post-graduation and professional outcomes. The major findings of the study included:

- College preparation, college readiness programs, and early discussions about college while in high school positively impact college enrollment rates for Black, firstgeneration college students.
- Black, first-generation college graduates of PWIs receive motivation to apply and attend college from various sources that include immediate family members, college student groups, and non-White college faculty and staff.
- 3. While undergraduates, Black, first-generation college graduates of PWIs often have negative experiences rooted in stereotypes and covert racism due to their race.
- The positive and negative experiences of Black, first-generation college graduates of PWIs have a profound impact on their personal lives and professional work.

Recommendations for Practice

The findings from this study illustrate that Black, first-generation college graduates often arrive at college with overwhelming support from their immediate family. However, that support has limitations because their parents, who did not earn a college degree, could not fully

understand the complexities of college life and the experiences of their children. Nonetheless, Black, first-generation college graduates can thrive and often have intrinsic motivations to perform well and to graduate.

Higher education institutions would benefit from the following practices based on the research:

- 1. Providing intentional ongoing support for Black, first-generation college students.
- 2. Ensuring that faculty and staff receive ongoing necessary training regarding discrimination, harassment, and unconscious bias.
- 3. Creating mentoring programs for Black college students soon after their arrival that will allow them to build relationships with other Black students, faculty, and staff.

Recommendations for Further Research

Further research could expand the relevant data on Black, first-generation college students and graduates at PWIs. One of the limitations of this study was that it focused on graduates of four-year institutions, but it might be beneficial to replicate this study at two-year institutions because the enrollment rates at two-year institutions is higher for first-generation college students (NASPA, 2021). Additional recommendations for future research are not limited to but could include:

- Examining the relationship between Black faculty and staff and Black, firstgeneration college students at PWIs and its impact on persistence and graduation rates.
- 2. Exploring the importance of NPHC fraternities and sororities at PWIs and the impact they have on the sense of belonging for Black, first-generation college students.

- 3. Investigating the reporting mechanisms for cases of race-related issues at PWIs, the frequency of reports, and the outcomes of such cases.
- 4. Exploring the financial gaps that potentially hinder Black college students from lowincome families from participating in curricular, co-curricular, and developmental opportunities.

References

- Allen, W. (1988). Improving Black student access and achievement in higher education. *The Review of Higher Education*, *11*(4), 403-416. <u>https://muse.jhu.edu/article/645185/pdf</u>
- Atherton, M. (2014). Academic preparedness of first-generation college students: Different perspectives. *Journal of College Student Development*, *55*(8), 824-829. <u>https://muse-jhu-edu.iris.etsu.edu:3443/journals/journal_of_college_student_development/v055/55.8.ather_ton.htm</u>
- Bernard, D. L., Lige, Q. M., Willis, H. A., Sosoo, E. E., & Neblett, E. W. (2017). Imposter phenomenon and mental health: The influence of racial discrimination and gender. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *64*(2), 155-166.
 <u>https://web.b.ebscohost.com/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=327e2d7e-0e97-4e68-a097-e1afb81b4059%40pdc-v-sessmgr01</u>
- Bourke, B. (2016). Meaning and implications of being labeled a predominately White institution. *College and University*, *91*(3), 12-18.

https://search.proquest.com/docview/1819910716/fulltext/FB60ECBCB3914905PQ/1?ac countid=10771

Boyraz, G., Horne, S. G., Owens, A. C., & Armstrong, A. P. (2016). Depressive symptomatology and college persistence among African American college students. *The Journal of General Psychology*, 143(2), 144-160.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00221309.2016.1163251

Brannon, T. N., Markus, H. R., Taylor, V. J., & Kawakami, K. (2015). Two souls, two thoughts, two self-schemas: Double consciousness can have positive academic consequences for African Americans. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 108(4), 586-609. https://web.b.ebscohost.com/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=14de7deb-353c-4987-9095-c4a2a6a7c985%40pdc-v-sessmgr04

Brownlow, C. & O'Dell, L. (2002) Ethical Issues for Qualitative Research in On-line Communities. *Disability & Society*. 17(6), 685-694.

https://doi.org/10.1080/0968759022000010452

- Chakraverty, D. (2020). The imposter phenomenon among Black doctoral and postdoctoral scholars in STEM. *International Journal of Doctoral Studies*, 15, 433-460. <u>http://ijds.org/Volume15/IJDSv15p433-460Chakraverty6364.pdf</u>
- Clance, P. R., & Imes, S. A. (1978). The imposter phenomenon in high achieving women: Dynamics and therapeutic intervention. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice,* 15(3), 241-247.

https://web.b.ebscohost.com/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=26fb9d27-43ec-40a8-9234-325149b0aa7c%40pdc-v-sessmgr05

Cokley, K., & Chapman, C. (2008). The roles of ethnic identity, anti-White attitudes and academic self-concept in African American student achievement. *Social Psychology of Education*, 11(4), 349-365.

http://web.b.ebscohost.com.iris.etsu.edu:2048/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=0&sid=a3 7399f6-df9a-4bc3-9ec6-cf0f69eade6c%40sessionmgr120

Cokley, K., McClain, S., Enciso, A., & Martinez, M. (2013). An examination of the impact of minority status stress and imposter feelings on mental health of diverse ethnic minority college students. *Journal of Multicultural Counseling and Development*, *41*(2), 82-95. <u>https://search.proquest.com/docview/1345950355/fulltextPDF/335E309B92AB4515PQ/1</u> <u>?accountid=10771</u>

- Cook, B. (2014). Double consciousness. *McNair Scholars Journal*, *15*, 1-17. <u>https://docplayer.net/36941058-Mcnair-scholars-journal-volume-15.html</u>
- Creswell, J. W. (1998). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five traditions*. Sage.
- Creswell, J. W. & Creswell, J. D. (2018). *Research design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and mixed methods approaches.* Sage.
- Delisle, J. (2017). The Pell Grant proxy: A ubiquitous but flawed measure of low-income student enrollment. <u>https://www.brookings.edu/research/the-pell-grant-proxy-a-ubiquitous-but-flawed-measure-of-low-income-student-enrollment/</u>
- Dennis, J. M., Phinney, J. S., & Chuateco, L. I. (2005). The role of motivation, parental support, and peer support in the academic success of ethnic minority first-generation college students. *Journal of College Student Development*, 46(3), 223-236. doi:10.1353/csd.2005.0023
- Dias, P. R. (2017). The experience of low-income college students at a selective university: An interpretative phenomenological analysis [Doctoral dissertation, Northeastern University]. https://repository.library.northeastern.edu/files/neu:cj82pz88z/fulltext.pdf
- Dudau, D. (2014). The relation between perfectionism and imposter phenomenon. *Social and Behavioral Sciences* 127, 129-133.

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1877042814023179

Duffy, R., & Klingaman, E. (2009). Ethnic identity and career development among first-year college students. *Journal of Career Assessment*, 17(3), 286-297. <u>http://journals.sagepub.com.iris.etsu.edu:2048/doi/pdf/10.1177/1069072708330504</u>

- Eakins, A. & Eakins, S. (2017). African American students at predominately White institutions:
 A collaborative style cohort recruitment & retention model. *Journal of Learning in Higher Education*, 13(2), 51-57. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1161827.pdf</u>
- Education Advisory Board. (2019). 90% of low-income, first-generation college students don't graduate on time. <u>https://www.eab.com/daily-briefing/2016/03/16/90-percent-of-low-</u>income-first-gen-students-dont-graduate-on-time-but-colleges-can-change-that
- Engle, J. (2007). Postsecondary access and success for first-generation college students. *Journal of American Academic Research*, *3*, 25-48.

https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.296.7903&rep=rep1&type=pdf

Erickson, E. H. (1966). The concept of identity in race relations: Notes and queries. American Academy of Arts & Sciences, 95(1), 145-171. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/pdf/20026970.pdf?refreqid=excelsior%3A82471181c46d7865</u> 3f1cd859528d1b32

- Evans, N. J., Forney, D. S., Guido, F. M., Patton, L. D., & Renn, K. A. (2010). *Student development in college: Theory, research, and practice*. Wiley.
- Ewing, K. M., Richardson, T. Q., James-Myers, L., & Russell, R. K. (1996). The relationship between racial identity attitudes, worldview, and African American graduate students' experience of the imposter phenomenon. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 22(1), 53-66. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1177/00957984960221005</u>
- Fischer, M. J. (2007). Settling into campus life: Differences by race/ethnicity in college involvement and outcomes. *Journal of Higher Education*, 78(2), 125-161. <u>https://web.a.ebscohost.com/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=0&sid=d4fa55d7-311e-43cf-86e4-ec7135585169%40sessionmgr4006</u>

- Folger, W. A., Carter, J. A., & Chase, P. B. (2004). Supporting first generation college freshmen with small group intervention. *College Student Journal*, 38(3), 472-476. <u>https://go-galecom.iris.etsu.edu/ps/i.do?p=AONE&u=tel_a_etsul&id=GALE|A123321907&v=2.1&it=r</u>
- Garriot, P., Hudyma, A., Keene, C., & Santiago, D. (2015). Social cognitive predictors of firstand non-first generation college students' academic and life satisfaction. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 62(2), 253-263.

http://web.b.ebscohost.com.iris.etsu.edu:2048/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=8e bb78aa-d8ae-4faf-bc57-7eec2ed9e3be%40sessionmgr103

Glasser, W. (1998). Choice theory: A new psychology of personal freedom. Harper Collins.

Green, A. (2015). Experiences of African American females first generation college students[Doctoral dissertation, Western Michigan University]. Western Michigan UniversityDigital Archive.

https://scholarworks.wmich.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1521&context=dissertations

Guiffrida, D. A., & Douthit, K. Z. (2006). The African American student experience at predominantly White colleges: Implications for school and college counselors. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 88(3), 311-318.
 <u>https://web.b.ebscohost.com/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=0&sid=43d588f5-b03f-</u>

<u>4c6c-95e4-22bf4b92a194%40pdc-v-sessmgr01</u>

Hurtado, S., & Carter, D. F. (1997). Effects of college transition and perception of the campus racial climate of Latino college students' sense of belonging. *Sociology of Education*, 70(4), 324-345.

https://www.jstor.org/stable/pdf/2673270.pdf?refreqid=excelsior%3A0643520fea348b42 e2bf001a7a1b719c

- Hussar, B., Zhang, J., Hein, S., Wang, K., Roberts, A., Cui, J., Smith, M., Bullock Mann, F.,
 Barmer, A., & Dilig, R. (2020). *The condition of education 2020* (NCES 2020-144).
 National Center for Education Statistics. <u>https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2020/2020144.pdf</u>
- Jones, L., Castellanos, J., & Cole, D. (2002). Examining the ethnic minority student experience at predominately White institutions: A case study. *Journal of Hispanic Higher Education*, *1*(1), 19-39.

http://journals.sagepub.com.iris.etsu.edu:2048/doi/pdf/10.1177/1538192702001001003

- Jury, M., Smeding, A., Court, M., & Darnon, C. (2015). When first generation students succeed at university: On the link between social class, academic performance, and performance-avoidance goals. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, *41*, 25-36.
 <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/publication/268218493_When_first-generation_students_succeed_at_university_On_the_link_between_social_class_academic_performance_and_performance_avoidance_goals
- Karkouti, I. M. (2016). Black students' educational experiences in predominantly White universities: A review of the related literature. *College Student Journal*, 50(1), 59-70.
 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/301356435_Black_Students'_Educational_Experiences in Predominantly White Universities A Review of the Related Literature
- Kish, A. (2003). Managing culture shock: Supporting first-generation transitions to higher education. *The Vermont Connection*, 24(2).

https://scholarworks.uvm.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1195&context=tvc

Koch, L. M., Gross, A.M., & Kolts, R. (2001) Attitudes toward Black English and code switching. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 27(1), 29-42. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/247754076_Attitudes_Toward_Black_English_ and_Code_Switching

Lacey, S., & Stewart, M. (2017). Jumping into the deep: Imposter syndrome, defining success, and the new librarian. *The Canadian Journal of Library and Information Practice and Research*, *12*(1), 1-15.

https://journal.lib.uoguelph.ca/index.php/perj/article/view/3979/3994

- Lige, Q. M., Peteet, B. J., & Brown, C. M. (2017). Racial identity, self-esteem, and the imposter phenomenon among African American college students. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 43(4), 345-357. <u>https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/0095798416648787</u>
- Jones, L., Castellanos, J., & Cole, D. (2002). Examining the ethnic minority student experience at predominantly White institutions: A case study. *Journal of Hispanic Higher Education, 1*(1), 19-39.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/249630986_Examining_the_Ethnic_Minority_ Student_Experience_at_Predominantly_White_Institutions_A_Case_Study/link/53fdf740 0cf2dca8000405b8/download

Juang, L., Ittel, A., Hoferichter, F., & Gallarin, M. (2016). Perceived racial/ethnic discrimination and adjustment among ethnically diverse college students: Family and peer support as protective factors. *Journal of College Student Development*, 57(4), 380-394. <u>https://muse.jhu.edu/article/619490/pdf</u>

Maslow, A. (1965). *Self-actualization and beyond* (ED012056). ERIC. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED012056

- Means, D. R., & Pyne, K. B. (2017). Finding my way: Perceptions of institutional support and belonging in low-income, first-generation, first-year college students. *Journal of College Student Development*, 58(6), 907-924. <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1155237</u>
- Mehta, S., Newbold, J., & O'Rourke, M. (2011). Why do first-generation students fail. *College Student Journal*, 45(1), 20-35.

http://search.proquest.com.iris.etsu.edu:2048/docview/859610026?OpenUrlRefId=info:xr i/sid:primo&accountid=10771

National Association of Student Personnel Administrators. (2021). First-generation college students: Demographic characteristics and postsecondary enrollment.

https://firstgen.naspa.org/files/dmfile/FactSheet-01.pdf

- Padgett, R., Goodman, K., Johnson, M., Saichaie, K., Umbach, D., & Pascarella, E. (2010). The impact of college socialization, social class, and race on need for cognition. http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.870.6296&rep=rep1&type=pdf
- Palbusa, J. A., & Gauvain, M. (2017). Parent-student communication about college and freshman grades in first generation and non-first generation students. *Journal of College Student Development*, 58(1), 107-112. https://muse.jhu.edu/article/646666

Parkman, A. (2016). The imposter phenomenon in higher education: Incidence and impact.
 Journal of Higher Education Theory and Practice, 16(1), 51-60.
 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/306254333 The Imposter Phenomenon in Hi
 gher_Education Incidence_and_Impact

Parks-Yancy, R. (2012) Interactions into opportunities: Career management for low-income, first-generation African American college students. *Journal of College Student Development*, 53(4), 510-523. <u>https://muse-jhu-edu.iris.etsu.edu/article/482082/pdf</u> Peteet, B., Montgomery, L., & Weekes, J. (2015). Predictors of imposter phenomenon among talented ethnic minority undergraduate students. *The Journal of Negro Education*, 84(2), 175-186.

https://www.jstor.org/stable/pdf/10.7709/jnegroeducation.84.2.0175.pdf?refreqid=excelsi or%3A4a1ee74cd8b4f8a33860720493684d63

- Peteet, B. J., Brown, C. M., Lige, Q. M., & Lanaway, D. A. (2014). Impostorism is associated with greater psychological distress and lower self-esteem for African American students. *Current Psychology*, 34(1), 154-163. <u>https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s12144-</u> 014-9248-z
- Petty, T. (2014). Motivating first-generation students to academic success and college completion. *College Student Journal*, 48(2), 257-264. <u>https://go-gale-</u> <u>com.iris.etsu.edu/ps/i.do?p=ITOF&u=tel_a_etsul&id=GALE|A377286769&v=2.1&it=r</u>
- Pino, N., Ramos, G. P. M., & Smith, W. L. (2012). Latinos, the academic ethic, and transition to college. *Journal of Latinos and Education*, 11(1), 17-31.
- Robinson, A. (2017, November). Overcoming imposter syndrome. *Psychopharmacology and Substance Abuse Newsletter*, 50(3). <u>http://www.apadivisions.org/division-</u>28/publications/newsletters/psychopharmacology/2017/11/impostersyndrome.aspx?_ga=2.213355348.1140123915.1532863180-2106415593.1532863180
- Romanelli, F. (2020). Reflections of a first generation college student, American, and academician. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, *84*(8), 1049-1051. https://www.ajpe.org/content/ajpe/early/2020/02/10/ajpe8007.full.pdf
- Sewer, M. (2015). Overcoming imposter syndrome. *ASBMB Today*, 34-35. https://www.asbmb.org/asbmb-today/careers/120115/overcoming-impostor-syndrome

- Sinanan, A. (2016). The value and necessity of mentoring African American college students at PWI's. *Africology: The Journal of Pan American Studies*, 9(8), 155-166. <u>https://go-gale-com.iris.etsu.edu:3443/ps/i.do?p=AONE&u=tel_a_etsul&id=GALE%7CA472680614&v</u> =2.1&it=r
- Smith, A. A. (2015). Who's in first (generation)? Inside Higher Ed.
 <u>https://www.insidehighered.com/news/2015/11/10/who-are-first-generation-students-and-how-do-they-fare</u>
- Stebleton, M. J. & Soria, K. M. (2012). Breaking down barriers: Academic obstacles of firstgeneration students at research universities. National College Learning Center Association, 17(2). <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1002281.pdf</u>
- Stebleton, M. J., Soria, K. M., & Huesman, R. L. (2014). First-generation students' sense of belonging, mental health, and use of counseling services at public research universities. *Journal of College Counseling*, 17, 6-20.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/261410707 First-

<u>Generation_Students%27_Sense_of_Belonging_Mental_Health_and_Use_of_Counseling</u> <u>______Services_at_Public_Research_Universities</u>

- Stephens, N., Fryberg, S., Markus, H., Johnson, C. & Covarrubias, R. (2012). Unseen disadvantage: How American universities' focus on independence undermines the academic performance of first-generation college students. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *102*(6), 1178-1197. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0027143</u>
- Strayhorn, T. L. (2019). College students' sense of belonging: A key to educational success for all students. Routledge.

- Tabrizi, M. H. A. (2020). The lived experiences of first-generation Black men at a predominantly White institution and the impact of sense of belonging on their social and academic integration [Unpublished doctoral dissertation]. Rowan University.
- Thayer, P.B. (2000). Retention of students from first generation and low income backgrounds. *The Journal of the Council for Opportunity in Education*. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED446633.pdf
- Toutkoushian, R. K., Stollberg, R. A., & Slaton, K. A. (2018). Talking 'bout my generation:
 Defining first generation college students in higher education research. *Teachers College Record*, *120*(4), 1-38. https://www.tcrecord.org/books/pdf.asp?ContentID=22042
- U.S. Department of Education. (2018). Distribution of federal Pell grant program funds by institution [Data set]. <u>https://www2.ed.gov/finaid/prof/resources/data/pell-institution.html</u>
- Wang, T. (2012). Understanding the memorable messages first generation college students receive from on-campus mentors. *Communication Education*, *61*(4), 335-357.
 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/271751094 Understanding the Memorable M essages First-Generation College Students Receive from On-Campus Mentors
- Wang, T. (2014). Formational turning points in the transition to college: Understanding how communication events shape first-generation students' pedagogical and interpersonal relationships with their college teachers. *Communication Education*, 63(1), 63-82.
- Weir, K. (2013). Feel like a fraud? *American Psychological Association*, 11(4). <u>https://www.apa.org/gradpsych/2013/11/fraud</u>
- Young, V. A., Barrett, R., Young-Rivera, Y. S., & Lovejoy, K. B. (2018). *Other people's English: Code-meshing, code-switching, and African American literacy*. Parlor Press.

APPENDICES

Appendix A: Interview Questions

Welcome! Before we start, please confirm that you are a first-generation college graduate, that you self-identify as an African American, and that you graduated from a predominately White college or university.

- 1. Can you tell me about your undergraduate alma mater?
- 2. What motivated you to attend college?
- 3. What factors were important in your decision to enroll at a PWI?
- 4. Can you tell me about your parent's educational background? Did they encourage you to attend college?
- 5. What role did your immediate family play in financially supporting your educational pursuits? What role did they play emotionally?
- 6. Do you feel that the college offered adequate support to help minority students adjust to college life?
 - a. If yes, describe that support.
 - b. If no, what types of support would have been helpful?
- 7. What was your academic major?
 - a. How did you decide on a major?
 - b. Did race or ethnicity play a role in your choice of a major?
- 8. Just before or just after starting college, did you have any concerns about being successful academically?
- 9. Did you join any student organizations or clubs while you were an undergraduate student?

- a. If yes, what were those organizations? Were these organizations comprised mostly of White students or students of color?
- b. If yes, how did you select the organizations that you joined?
- 10. Was there a time while you were an undergraduate that you felt you had to diminish your culture, change your speech patterns, or change your appearance to assimilate into the campus environment and fit in? If yes, when you returned home to visit your family or friends while an undergraduate, did you revert to your previous speech patterns or manner of dress?
- 11. What is your current role or profession? In what ways did your experiences as an undergraduate at a PWI impact your current professional and personal life?
- 12. Did you attend graduate school? If so, was it another PWI or a HBCU?
- 13. Do you have anything to add?

Appendix B: Consent Form

Principal Investigator's Contact Information: stukes@etsu.edu Organization of Principal Investigator: East Tennessee State University

INFORMED CONSENT

This document explains about being a participant in a research study. Please read this carefully. This will help you decide if you would like to volunteer to join this study.

If you are interested in volunteering for this research study, please read the rest of this document.

STUDY DETAILS

- What is the purpose of the study? The purpose of this study is to explore the perceptions and experiences of African American, first-generation college graduates of predominantly White institutions. The narratives will provide a glimpse into their experiences as undergraduate students and how those challenges impacted their lives. This study does not involve using marketed drugs, devices, or experiments.
- How much of my time will it take? The individual interviews necessary are expected to take 60-75 minutes.
- What are you asking me to do? If you decide to volunteer for this study, you will be asked to review the consent form and schedule a date and time for a Zoom interview. During the interview, you will be asked a series of questions that speak to the purpose of this study. All Zoom sessions will be recorded and transcribed soon thereafter. You will be provided a copy of the transcription in order to confirm its accuracy and will have the opportunity to redact statements at that time.
- Are there any benefits for me? Yes, your participation will provide an opportunity for you to discuss your journey as an African American, first-generation college graduate and may serve as a point of reflection. Additionally, you could gain insight into the experiences of other African American first-generation college students. Colleges and universities may use this data strategically and intentionally to implement supports and resources to serve this study population, if required.
- Are there any possible risks or discomforts? There is a possible risk associated with this research as the data you provide is identifiable to the researcher. As the principal investigator, I will not publish or share any identifiable information and you will be assigned a pseudonym to increase confidentiality. I will be the only recipient of your contact information and will use it in setting up an interview date/time, providing you with the transcript for review and possible redaction, and for notifying you if are chosen for a gift card.
- Will I be identified? How are you keeping my information safe? The Zoom recordings, which include facial recognition, add the possible risk of loss of confidentiality. As the

principal investigator, I will not share your name or other identifiable information with anyone else. The study will not include identifiable information and I will make every effort to keep your study records confidential. The results of this study may be published and/or presented at meetings. You will not be named as a participant. Although your rights and privacy will be maintained, both the research records and signed consent form that identify you may be reviewed by others that have the legal right to see that information. This may include the ETSU IRB overseeing this research, other individuals at the University with the responsibility for ensuring we follow the rules related to this research, the federal Office of Human Research Protections (OHRP) that protects participants like you, and the Principal Investigator and research team. Your records will be kept completely confidential according to current legal requirements. They will not be revealed unless required by law, or as described in this form.

- Will any of my data be used in the future? All information that can identify you will be removed from the data. These data will then be stored for possible use in future research studies. We will not ask for additional consent for those studies.
- **Do I have to pay for anything?** There is no cost to you if you decide to be a part of this study.
- Will I be paid for participating? You will not be paid directly for joining this study. At the conclusion of the interviews, a random drawing will be held to determine two recipients of \$50 gift cards.
- **Do I have to join this study?** No. This study is voluntary. You decide if you want to be a part of this study. You may decide you do not want to participate. If you join this study and then change your mind, you can withdraw at any time. Deciding not to join the study or withdrawing will not affect any benefits you would normally receive. You may quit by contacting James Stukes at 803-983-1211 or by email at stukes@etsu.edu.
- Whom should I contact for questions? If you have any questions or research-related problems at any time, you may call James Stukes at 803-983-1211. This research is overseen by an Institutional Review Board (IRB). An IRB is a group of people who conduct independent review of research studies. You may also contact the ETSU IRB at 423.439.6054 or IRB@etsu.edu for any questions you may have about your rights as a research participant.

By signing below, I confirm that I have read and understand this Informed Consent Document. I also confirm that I had the opportunity to have it explained to me verbally. I confirm that I was able to ask questions and that all my questions have been answered. By signing below, I confirm that I am 18 years or older and I freely and voluntarily choose to take part in this research study.

Signature of Participant

Date

Printed Name of Participant

Signature of Person Obtaining Consent

Date

You will be provided with a copy of this signed consent form.

VITA

JAMES STUKES

Education:	Ed.D. Educational Leadership East Tennessee State University, Johnson City, Tennessee, 2021
	M.Ed. Higher Education and Student Affairs Abilene Christian University, Abilene, Texas, 2013
	Graduate Certification in Conflict Resolution Abilene Christian University, Abilene, Texas, 2013
	B.A. History East Tennessee State University, Johnson City, Tennessee, 2010
Professional Experience	Assistant Dean of Student Success & College Access, Wofford College, Spartanburg, South Carolina, 2021-present
	Coordinator of College Access & Student Success, Wofford College, Spartanburg, South Carolina, 2017-2021
	TRiO Transfer Coordinator, York Technical College, Rock Hill, South Carolina, 2015-2017
	Admissions Counselor, East Tennessee State University, Johnson City, Tennessee, 2013-2015
	L.E.A.P. Program Assistant Director, Science Hill High School, Johnson City, Tennessee, 2010-2013
Teaching Experience	Interim Course Instructor, Wofford College A Not So Different World, January 2022
	Interim Course Co-Instructor, Wofford College Grassroots Organizing & Social Justice: Applying Anthropology Here and Now, January 2020
	Interim Course Co-Instructor, Wofford College Decolonizing Mapping: Re-Thinking Space and Building Community, April 2021
Professional Presentations	Alexander, T., Rostan, K., Stukes, J., Smith-Tyus, T., & Woney, T. (2021). An Antiracist College. Poster presented at the AAC&U Diversity, Equity, and Student Success Conference.